Wilfrid Laurier University

Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2013

DOES ECOSYSTEM DISTURBANCE ALTER THE CAPACITY OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC MATTER TO MITIGATE THE IMPACT OF COPPER TO HYALELLA AZTECA?

Kelly Livingstone Wilfrid Laurier University, livi9270@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd

🔮 Part of the Biology Commons, Environmental Health Commons, and the Toxicology Commons

Recommended Citation

Livingstone, Kelly, "DOES ECOSYSTEM DISTURBANCE ALTER THE CAPACITY OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC MATTER TO MITIGATE THE IMPACT OF COPPER TO HYALELLA AZTECA?" (2013). *Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)*. 1622. https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1622

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

Does ecosystem disturbance alter the capacity of dissolved organic matter to mitigate the impact

of copper to Hyalella azteca?

by

Kelly C. Livingstone

Honours B.Sc. Biology, Wilfrid Laurier University, 2011

THESIS

Submitted to the Department of Biology

Faculty of Science

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the

Master of Science in Integrative Biology

Wilfrid Laurier University

2013

Kelly C. Livingstone ©

Abstract

The potential for aquatic ecosystem recovery as a result of dissolved organic matter (DOM) protecting against metal toxicity has become a significant area of research in environmental It is a well-characterized relationship that DOM binds free metal ions in a toxicology. concentration-dependant manner, making them unavailable for toxic action and a reduction in toxicity is seen. Less understood is source variability and how the upland terrestrial environment influences the protective quality of DOM. The aim of this study was to examine the influence of land disturbance (logging, fire, smelter emissions) on DOM quality by comparing the protective capacity of different sources on Cu toxicity and bioaccumulation in Hyalella azteca. Acute (96h) and chronic (28d) toxicity tests were done according to Environment Canada standard methods, and were completed in duplicate (acute) or triplicate (chronic) using 10 Hyalella aged 2-9 days old added to solutions of Cu (0-4 μ M) and DOM sources at a DOC concentration of 5mg C/L (acute) or 7mg C/L (chronic). Test solutions were maintained at pH 7.2±0.1, 21±1°C, and 13mg/L CaCO₃ hardness. Both acute and chronic toxicity tests showed significant variability among sources, with disturbed sites offering less protection than reference sites. The acute results were supported with 6h Cu uptake/binding experiments and optical characterizations (excitation-emission matrix spectroscopy, absorbance at 340nm and fluorescent indices). Chronic toxicity was associated with the dry weight of organisms at Day 28, but not bioaccumulation because it appears that *H. azteca* are capable of regulating Cu. Both acute and chronic toxicity predictions were generated and improved by incorporating SAC₃₄₀ and % humic acid content into the biotic ligand model (BLM). This project contributes toward an improved understanding of DOM quality characteristics and in conjunction with additional studies; it can potentially be applied to large scale ecosystem remediation efforts.

Acknowledgements

I would like to begin by thanking my supervisor Dr. Jim McGeer for providing me with guidance as well as so many invaluable opportunities throughout my M.Sc program. I would also like to thank the members of my committee Dr. Scott Smith and Dr. Kevin Stevens for their time and assistance throughout this project. I want to thank of all my lab-mates (past, present and honorary) for all of the help and friendship that they have given me in the past two years. I can't begin to express my thanks to my family. Andrew and Angela, Mom and Dad – thank you for your continuous support and encouragement not only throughout this program but always. Lastly, Anthony – thank you for your unconditional love and support, I would not have been able to do this without you

Glossary

BLM	biotic ligand model			
CETIS	comprehensive environmental toxicity information system			
DOC	dissolved organic carbon			
DOM	dissolved organic matter			
EC20the exposure concentration associated with a 20% reduction in growth of exposed organisms compared with unexposed controls				
EC50	concentration associated with a 50% growth effect			
EEMS	excitation-emission matrix spectroscopy			
FA	fulvic acid			
FI	fluorescence index			
НА	humic acid			
LA50accumulation on the biotic ligand that is associated with a 50% effect level, usually lethality				
LC50	the exposure concentration associated with 50% lethality			
PARAFAC	parallel factor analysis			
QF	quality factor			
SAC	specific absoroption coefficient			
SEM	standard error of mean			
TALER				

Table of Contents

Contents

Abstract ii
Glossaryiv
CHAPTER 1 Introduction1
1.2 Cu Toxicity
1.3 Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM)4
1.4 How DOM Affects Metal Bioavailability5
1.5 Influence of Upland Vegetation on DOM Quality6
1.6 Recovery of Damaged Ecosystems7
1.7 Hyalella azteca7
1.8 Biotic Ligand Model (BLM)8
1.8.1 Role of DOM in BLM9
1.9 Objectives
1.10 References
1.11 Figures
CHAPTER 2 Chemical, optical, and acute biological characterizations of DOM quality20
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Methods
2.2.1 DOM Sources and Collection
2.2.2 Hyalella azteca Culture
2.2.3 Acute Toxicity Tests
2.2.4 Short term Cu Bioaccumulation
2.2.5 Sampling and Characterization
Cu and TOC Analysis
Tissue digests
2.2.6 Characterization of DOM Quality
DOM Binding Capacity Characterization30
Optical Characterization31
2.2.7 Calculations and Statistical Analyses
2.2.8 Modelling

2.3 Results	5
2.3.1 Acute Toxicity Tests	5
2.3.2 Short Term (6h) Accumulation	6
2.3.3 Optical Characterizations of DOM	6
2.3.4 ISE Characterizations of DOM	7
2.3.5 Correlations Among Biological, Optical, and Chemical Measures	7
2.3.6 Modelling	7
2.4 Discussion	8
2.5 Conclusions	6
2.6 Tables	8
2.7 Figures	3
2.8 References	0
CHAPTER 3 Effect of DOM source on the chronic survival, growth and accumulation of Cu to Hyalella	
azteca	0
3.1 Introduction	1
3.2 Methods	4
3.2.1 DOM Sources and Collection	4
3.2.3 Chronic Toxicity Tests	4
3.2.4 Cu and DOC Analysis	5
3.2.5 Tissue Digestion	6
3.2.6 Calculations and Statistical Analyses	7
3.2.7 Modelling	8
3.3 Results	8
3.3.1 Water Chemistry	8
3.3.2 Chronic Mortality	9
3.3.3 Growth Effects	9
3.3.4 Cu Bioaccumulation	1
3.3.5 Correlations with DOM Characteristics	1
3.3.6 Modelling	1
3.4 Discussion	2
3.5 Conclusions	8
3.6 Tables	9

3.7 Figures		94
3.8 References		98
CHAPTER 4 C	General Discussion	
4.1 Major Find	dings	107
4.2 General D	iscussion	
4.3 References		112

CHAPTER 1 Introduction

New research in ecotoxicology is focusing on the effects of dissolved organic matter (DOM) on metal toxicity. While numerous studies have shown that DOM protects against toxicity by reducing metal bioavailability, the variability among different DOM sources binding metals is not yet fully understood. DOM composition from each ecosystem is likely to have distinct characteristics because every ecosystem is unique. Understanding the ecological role of DOM in aquatic systems negatively impacted by the presence of metals is vital in assessing environmental contamination and refining toxicity predictions to improve remediation strategies.

1.1 Cu in Aquatic Systems

Copper (Cu) is an essential element and is required by most organisms; however when accumulated in excess, vital enzymes and proteins can be damaged, ultimately resulting in acute toxicity (Morris et al., 2003). Cu is known to be a necessary element for the proper functioning of haemocyanin, a respiratory protein (Rainbow, 2002). Cu is a ubiquitous element and is present in aquatic ecosystems as a result of natural geochemistry as well as anthropogenic activities. Naturally, Cu is input to aquatic systems by a multitude of processes including the weathering and erosion of copper-containing minerals which leads to the slow release of the metal into the environment (Georgopoulos et al., 2001). Additionally, Cu may enter aquatic ecosystems via human activities such as waste incineration, coal combustion, plumbing, antifouling agents on boats, as well as mining and smelting operations (Georgopoulous et al., 2001). Typically, Cu concentrations in uncontaminated aquatic environments range from $0.5 - 4 \mu g/L$, while in metal-contaminated areas such as Sudbury Ontario, Cu concentrations have been documented to exceed 400 $\mu g/L$ in certain lakes (Grossel 2011; Keller et al., 1998). Current freshwater quality guidelines, set by the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment

(CCME), are 2 – 4 μ g/L Cu for waters that have a hardness of less than 120 mg CaCO₃ mg/L (CCME, 1999).

Copper can exist in a variety of forms in the water including CuCO₃, CuOH⁺, and Cu²⁺, among others (Paquin et al., 2000). When Cu²⁺ forms a complex with carbonate (CuCO₃) or other anions, it generally becomes unavailable for toxic action to aquatic biota (Paquin et al., 2000). The exception to this is copper-hydroxide which has been associated with toxicity in some aquatic organisms in high pH environments (Grossel et al, 2011). However, it is the free metal ion (Cu²⁺) that is the associated with being the most toxic form of copper (Di Toro et al., 2001). Cu²⁺ is most detrimental to organisms because it is the most bioavailable form of the metal and once accumulated, it interacts to disrupt organism homeostasis.

1.2 Cu Toxicity

In aquatic organisms (including invertebrates such as *Hyalella azteca*), Cu^{2+} toxicity is best understood through consideration of mechanistic-approaches based on the physiological uptake and internalization of copper, rather than a result of metal adsorption to the surface of the organism (Borgmann, 1998). The mechanisms of Cu^{2+} toxicity in *Hyalella* are not as well established as they are for higher organisms such as rainbow trout. It is well-established that Cu exposure negatively affects ionoregulation in fish by preventing sodium ion (Na⁺) uptake as a result of Na⁺-K⁺-ATP-ase impairment (Laurén and McDonald, 1985). In chronic exposures to Cu it has been documented that *H. azteca*, similar to most other organisms, are capable of internally regulating Cu and this is related to the fact that this is an essential element (Borgmann, 1998).

Cu toxicity may occur across a large range of Cu concentrations, depending on the aquatic medium (e.g speciation influences such as pH and DOC, as well as hardness cations) and

also the ability of the organism to regulate Cu (Sorensen, 1991; Borgmann, 1998). Although the mechanisms of uptake and accumulation are not completely characterized for *H. azteca*, it is generally theorized that toxicity occurs when Cu accumulation exceeds the combined detoxification and elimination capacities. This leads to interactions and sites of toxicity where physiological mechanisms become overwhelmed and disrupted resulting in impaired function (Borgmann, 1998). During acute toxicity, the influx and accumulation occurs rapidly and there is little chance for detoxification responses before the organism is overwhelmed. During a chronic exposure however, accumulated Cu can be detoxified and toxicity is associated with internal thresholds that are extremely localized to specific sites of toxicity. Thus, for chronic exposure, body burden is not a valuable indicator of toxic effects (Rainbow, 2002). Gaining an understanding of the mechanisms of Cu accumulation in *Hyalella azteca* will contribute to the knowledge of Cu toxicity in this amphipod.

1.3 Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM)

DOM is a term used to describe a group of non-anthropogenic complexes and molecules that arise primarily from the breakdown of plant and animal matter. DOMs in aquatic systems are heterogeneous in their composition, vary in complexity and are considered difficult to characterize. Thus, there are a number of approaches used to describe the complexities of DOM. One approach is to classify based on the relative composition of fulvic acid, hydrophilic acid, and humic acid; the three main fractions making up DOMs (Ma et al., 2001). DOMs can also be classified based on their origin, either allochthonous (also known as terrigenous) or autochthonous (McKnight et al., 2001; Lamelas et al., 2005). Terrigenous DOM is comprised mainly of humic acids and fulvic acids and enters into aquatic ecosystems primarily via the terrestrial runoff of decomposed plant and animal matter (Lamelas et al., 2005). Autochthonous DOM consists mainly of nitrogenous and aliphatic groups as well as hydrophilic acids and originates within the aquatic system by the primary production activity of aquatic photosynthetic organisms such as algae or microbes (McKnight et al., 2001). Often DOM is quantified based on organic carbon content and environmental concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) typically range from 1 - 15 mg C/L in freshwater ecosystems (Thurman, 1985; David et al., 1997).

1.4 How DOM Affects Metal Bioavailability

DOM has a significant effect on the bioavailability of metal ions in aquatic environments. Organic matter acts as a modifying agent by binding free metal ions, generally considered to be the most toxic form of dissolved metal, reducing their bioavailability and also toxicity (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004a). Copper is a metal that is highly influenced by the presence of organic matter because the negative functional groups (e.g. carboxylics, phenolics, hydroxyls) within DOM have a high binding affinity for Cu (Playle, 1998). For example, the work of Welsh (1996) showed that the LC50 for *H. azteca* increased from 0.13 to 0.94 μ M Cu when the DOC increased from 0.4 to 3.4 mg C/L. Other studies with aquatic organisms have shown a similar pattern of the Cu LC50 increases with increasing DOC concentration (Kramer et al., 2004; De Schamphelaere et al., 2004b; Erickson et al., 1996). DOM provides a protective effect against the toxicity of Cu to aquatic organisms in a DOC concentration-dependent manner. This relationship implies that the metal-binding capacity of DOM is correlated to the carbon content and measurements of Cu²⁺ in solution show that complexation by DOM reduces the amount of Cu that is bioavailable for toxic action (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004a).

It has been hypothesized that sources of DOM vary in their potential to ameliorate metal toxicity due to the relative composition of different functional groups (De Schamphelaere et al.,

2004a). A study done by Hicks (2009) examined the influence of DOM quality (ten sources from across the Canadian Shield) on the acute toxicity of Cu to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and found nearly a 3.5-fold difference among DOM sources. It is evident that there are differences among sources of DOM with respect to the ability to bind Cu and reduce metal bioavailability; however it is still unknown why these differences exist and the linkages between source variability and Cu binding capacity. Although it is established that DOM acts to reduce metal toxicity, more research is required in order to understand why the quality (source) of organic matter has such a significant influence on the expression of toxicity in aquatic invertebrates.

1.5 Influence of Upland Vegetation on DOM Quality

The quality of terrigenous DOM is likely defined by upland vegetation characteristics in combination with degradation transfer processes occurring along the land-water interface; however this has never been tested in relation to metal toxicity. Hiriart-Baer et al. (2008) documented that the wetlands surrounding aquatic ecosystems play a significant role in the input of terrigenous DOM to the system. Generally, DOC concentrations within an aquatic ecosystem vary over time as a result of several factors that influence the input of decayed organic matter from the surrounding terrestrial environment, including storms, drought, and climate (Snucins and Gunn, 2000). Wetlands are thought to play a key role in DOM sequestration and higher concentrations of DOC are found in lakes that have inputs from these sources. In catchments that are influenced by wetlands DOC concentrations tend to be less variable across seasons because of the slow discharge of water and DOC (Cuss et al., 2010). Schiff et al (1997) conducted a study to determine the process of DOC export from forested catchments into nearby aquatic environments. Radio-labelled carbon was used to determine where the majority of the

DOC originated and it was observed that much of the DOC (55%) came from the breakdown of deciduous leaves; primarily maple leaves (Schiff et al., 1997). Further research is needed to understand how the terrestrial vegetation of surrounding catchments influences the quality of DOC entering aquatic systems.

1.6 Recovery of Damaged Ecosystems

The characteristics of DOM from damaged ecosystems, particularly properties related to toxicity mitigation are the focus of this project. Different types of ecosystem disturbance will be assessed, such as long-term smelter damage, fire, and logging in an attempt to understand how terrestrial damage can influence aquatic DOM quality (Figure 1.1). Because DOM plays a significant role in not only toxicity mitigation, but also in the delivery of carbon and nutrients to aquatic systems, it is crucial to understand how the quality of DOM can differentially protect organisms in contaminated environments (Snucins and Gunn, 2000) and to understand the role that DOM has in the processes that damaged ecosystems undergo to return to reference condition

1.7 Hyalella azteca

The short life cycle, reproduction patterns, as well as the amenability to laboratory culturing contribute to why *Hyalella* is a successful organism for toxicity testing. This organism is very sensitive to several metals such as copper, nickel, and cadmium (Borgmann et al., 2005; Borgmann et al., 1989). *Hyalella* can be abundant and are representative of sensitive biota in the aquatic environment. Furthermore, there are established standard test methods for this organism (Environment Canada 1997, 2013). *Hyalella azteca* are good model organisms and highly relevant organism in terms of Canadian environmental protection.

Hyalella azteca is a small, benthic aquatic amphipod from the class Crustacea (Pennak 1978). These organisms are found in most unpolluted freshwater lakes, ponds, and streams across the Canadian Boreal Shield and are commonly abundant in waters that exceed 10°C in the summer months (Shuhaimi-Othman and Pascoe, 2001; Environment Canada 2013). *Hyalella* are important organisms in aquatic food webs, providing a food source for many animals including birds, fish, and larger invertebrates. *Hyalella* are omnivores, mainly surviving on algae, bacteria, and detritus (Hargrave, 1970). Although this organism is often found swimming freely in the water column, *Hyalella* are known to inhabit sediment-rich areas that provide a source of cover as well as nutrition (Environment Canada, 2013).

Hyalella have an annual life cycle in which at least eight molting periods (instars) occur (Cooper, 1965). Within this life cycle, there are three stages: the immature stage (includes the first 5 molts), the juvenile stage (molting periods 6 and 7) and the adult stage which is the 8th molt and older (Cooper, 1965). Sexual maturation begins within 5-6 weeks of birth and optimal reproduction occurs by approximately 8-12 weeks, however these time points depend on environmental conditions (Borgmann et al., 1989). When eggs are fertilized (in the brood pouch) females can produce between 1 and 50 offspring per brood, with more offspring being produced in summer months with warmer water temperatures (Cooper, 1965). In general, female *Hyalella* produce offspring for 12-14 weeks after sexual maturation (Borgman et al., 1989).

1.8 Biotic Ligand Model (BLM)

The biotic ligand model (BLM) is a recently accepted regulatory tool (e.g. Canada, USA, EU) that provides a means for predicting acute metal toxicity at a specific receptor site (the biotic ligand) on aquatic organisms (Di Toro et al., 2001). The BLM focuses on the free metal ion as the most toxic form of metal to aquatic organisms (Paquin et al., 2000). Disruption of ionic

homeostasis will occur when the free metal ion binds to the biotic ligand, and acute toxicity will occur (Di Toro et al., 2001). Although the site of toxic action is unknown for Hyalella, it is suspected that much like higher organisms (e.g. rainbow trout) it is the respiratory surface (i.e. coxal gill) where Cu is accumulated (Borgmann, 1998). The toxicity is estimated based on the site-specific parameters of the surrounding aquatic environment such as: relative concentration of the free metal, complexation with inorganic or organic compounds, competition among cations for uptake at the biotic ligand, and pH (Niyogi and Wood, 2004; Paquin et al., 2000). The previously mentioned water quality parameters can influence metal toxicity by altering the bioavailability of the free metal ion. Figure 1.2 provides a conceptual schematic of the copper BLM and depicts the complexation and competition interactions that influence metal free ion concentrations and uptake (adapted from Santore et al., 2001). Although the BLM is normally used to predict acute Cu toxicity, several studies have successfully developed chronic Cu BLMs for various organisms including Ceriodaphnia dubia (Schwartz and Vigneault, 2007), Daphnia magna (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004b), and the rotifer Brachionus calyciflorus (De Schamphelaere et al., 2006). The BLM is a is the most advanced freshwater toxicological modelling system available and is used in setting regulatory guidelines for metal levels in freshwater systems.

1.8.1 Role of DOM in BLM

In the updated version of the BLM (ver. 2.2.3), DOM is accounted for because it readily binds free metal ions (complexation), but DOM source variability is not traditionally included within the model. Although it is known that sources of DOM differ in their ability to mitigate metal toxicity based on their composition and the relative presence of Cu-binding groups, this variability among sources has not yet been incorporated into the modelling process. In future models, DOM quality needs to be better understood so that this aspect can be integrated into toxicity prediction BLMs for accurate guidelines to be created in environmental policy-making.

1.9 Objectives

The main long-term objective of this research project was to understand how to assess DOM composition in relation to Cu toxicity mitigation which can potentially help to set better environmental guidelines. Ultimately, this research will potentially provide a basis for better understanding and predicting the recovery and remediation processes of aquatic ecosystems that have been damaged by either metal contamination from mining/smelting emissions, fire, or logging. The short-term objectives of this research project occurred in three phases:

- To assess how different sources of DOM mitigate Cu toxicity to the chosen model organism (*Hyalella azteca*). This was achieved through a series of acute and chronic toxicity tests with DOM sources from different sources added to Cu solutions. Several sources of DOM from either undisturbed or differently damaged Canadian boreal lakes (e.g. logging, fire, smelter) were tested at a range of Cu concentrations with the purpose of understanding how Cu toxicity mitigation is affected by DOM quality (Fig. 1.3). This work is documented in *Chapter 2 Chemical, optical, and acute biological characterizations of DOM quality* and *Chapter 3 Effect of DOM source n the chronic survival, growth, and accumulation of Cu to Hyalella azteca*.
- 2) To use a suite of optical and chemical methods to characterize the DOM sources in order to gain insight to the reasons why DOM quality differs in protecting against Cu toxicity. The different sources were characterized with techniques such as: ion selective electrode (ISE), excitation emission matrix spectroscopy (EEMS), and absorbance at 340nm (SAC₃₄₀) to explore the relationships between DOM chemical

characterization and toxicity mitigation. The work focusing on this objective is found in *Chapter 2*.

3) To incorporate the DOM characterizations along with acute and chronic toxicity data into the BLM in order to generate more accurate toxicity predictions that take into account DOM quality as well as ecosystem disturbance and recovery. Results of the modelling can be found in *Chapter 2* and *Chapter 3*.

.

1.10 References

- Borgmann U, Nowierski M, Dixon DG. 2005. Effect of major ions on the toxicity of copper to *Hyalella azteca* and implications for the biotic ligand model. Aquatic Toxicology. 73: 268-287.
- Borgmann U. 1998. A mechanistic model of copper accumulation in *Hyalella azteca*. Science of the Total Environment. 219:137-145.
- Borgmann U, Ralph K, Norwood, WP. 1989. Toxicity test procedures for *Hyalella azteca* and chronic toxicity of cadmium and pentachlorophenol to *H. azteca*, *Gammarus fasciatus*, and *Daphnia magna*. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 18: 756-764.
- CCME (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment). 1999. Canadian water quality guidelines. Environment Canada, Ottawa.
- Cooper WE. 1965. Dynamics and production of a natural population of a fresh-water amphipod, *Hyalella azteca*. Ecological Monographs. 35: 377-394.
- Cuss CW, Gueguen C, Hill E, Dillon PJ. 2010. Spatio-temporal variation in the characteristics of dissolved organic matter in the streams of boreal forests: Impacts on modelled copper speciation. Chemosphere. 80:764-770.
- David SM, Somers RA, Reid RA, Ingram R. 1997. Crayfish species assemblages in soft water lakes in seven tertiary watersheds in south-central Ontario. Ontario Ministry of Environment and Energy Report. ISBN 0-7778-6504-1.
- De Schamphelaere KAC, Heijerick DG, Janssen CR. 2006. Cross-phylum comparison of a chronic biotic ligand model to predict chronic toxicity of copper to a freshwater

rotifer, *Brachionus calyciflorus* (Pallas). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 63: 189-195.

- De Schamphelaere KAC, Vasconcelos F, Tack F, Allen H, Janssen CR. 2004a. Effect of dissolved organic matter source on acute copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23:1248-1255.
- De Schamphelaere KAC, Janssen CR. 2004b. Development and field validation of a biotic ligand model predicting chronic copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 1365-1375.
- Di Toro DM, Allen HE, Bergman HL, Meyer JS, Paquin PR, Santore RC. 2001. Biotic ligand model of the acute toxicity of metals. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 2382-2396.
- Environment Canada. 2013. Biological test method: Test for survival of growth in sediment and water using the freshwater amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. 2nd ed. Ottawa Ontario: Environment Canada, Method Development and Applications Section. EPS 1/RM/33.
- Environment Canada. 1997. Biological test method: Test for survival of growth in sediment using the freshwater amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. Ottawa Ontario: Environment Canada, Method Development and Applications Section. EPS 1/RM/33.
- Erickson RJ, Benoit DA, Mattson VR, Nelson HP, Leonard EN. 1996. The effects of water chemistry on the toxicity of copper to fathead minnows. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 15: 181-193.

- Georgopoulos PG, Roy A, Yonone-Lioy MJ, Opiekun RR, Lioy PJ. 2001. Environmental copper: Its dynamics and human exposure issues. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. 4: 341-394.
- Grossel M, Wood CM, Farrell AP, Brauner CJ. 2012. Homeostasis and toxicology of essential metals. Chapter 2, Copper. Fish Physiology Vol. 31A.
- Hargrave BT. 1970. The utilization of benthic microflora by *Hyalella azteca* (Amphipoda).Journal of Animal Ecology. 39: 427-437.
- Hicks K. 2009. Using chemical, optical and biological methods to characterize Cu complexationby different natural organic matter sources collected from Canadian Shield waters.Waterloo, Ontario: Wilfrid Laurier University.
- Hiriart-Baer VP, Deip N, Smith REH. 2008. Dissolved organic matter in the Great Lakes: Role and nature of allochthonous material. Journal of Great Lakes Research. 34:383-394.
- Kramer KJM, Jak RG, Hanttum BV, Hooftman RN, Zwolsman JJG. 2004. Copper toxicity in relation to surface water-dissolved organic matter: Biological effects to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemsitry. 23: 2971-2980.
- Morris J, Collyard S, Meyer J. 2003. Effects of chronic copper exposure on the nutritional composition of *Hyalella azteca*. Aquatic Toxicology. 63:197-206.
- Keller W, Carbone J, Gale P, Heneberry J, Malette M, Gunn J. 1998. Data report: Extensive monitoring of acidified lakes in the Sudbury area 1981 to 1997. Cooperative Freshwater Ecology Unit Rep., Laurentian University, Sudbury, Ontario, Canada, pp. 153.

- Lamelas C, Wilkinson KJ, Slaveykova VI. 2005. Influence of the composition of natural organic matter on Pb bioavailability to microalgae. Environmental Science and Technology. 39:6109-6116.
- Laurén DJ, McDonald DG. 1985. Effects of copper on branchial ionoregulation in the rainbow trout, *Saimo gairdneri* Richardson: Modulation by water hardness and pH. Journal of Comparative Physiology B. 155: 635-644.
- Ma H, Allen HE, Yin Y. 2001. Characterization of isolated fractionations of dissolved organic matter from natural waters and a wastewater effluent. Water Research. 35:985-996.
- McKnight DM, Boyer EW, Westerhoff PK, Doran PT, Kulbe T, Andersen DT. 2001. Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic material and aromaticity. Limnology and Oceanography. 46:38-48.
- Niyogi S, Wood CM. 2004. Biotic ligand model, a flexible tool for developing site-specific water quality guidelines for metals. Environmental Science and Technology. 38: 6177-6192.
- Paquin PR, Santore RC, Wu KB, Kawadas CD, Di Toro DM. 2000. The biotic ligand model: a model of acute metal toxicity to aquatic life. Environmental Science and Policy.
 3:175-182.
- Pennak RW. 1978. Freshwater Invertebrates of the United States. 2nd ed. New York (NY): John Wiley and Sons Inc. p.457-462.
- Playle RC. 1998. Modelling metal interactions at fish gills. Science of the Total Environment. 219: 147-163.

- Rainbow PS. 2002. Trace metal concentrations in aquatic invertebrates: Why and so what? Environmental Pollution. 120: 497-507.
- Santore RC, Di Toro DM, Paquin PR, Allen HE, Meyer JS. 2001. Biotic ligand model of the acute toxicity of metals: Application to acute copper toxicity in freshwater fish and *Daphnia*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 2397-2402.
- Schiff SL, Aravena R, Trumbore SE, Hinton MJ, Elgood R, Dillon PJ. 1997. Export of DOC from forested catchments on the Precambrian Shield of Central Ontario: Clues from 13C and 14C. Biogeochemistry. 36:43-65.
- Schwartz ML, Vigneault B. 2007. Development and validation of a chronic copper biotic ligand model for *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Aquatic Toxicology. 84: 247-254.
- Shuhaimi-Othman M, Pascoe D. 2001. Growth, development and reproduction of *Hyalella azteca* (Saussure, 1858) in laboratory culture. *Crustaceana*. 74:171-181.
- Snucins E, Gunn J. 2000. Interannual variation of the thermal structure of clear and coloured lakes. Limnology and Oceanography. 45:1639-1646.

Sorensen EMB. 1991. Metal poisoning in fish. CRC, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp 235-237.

- Thurman EM. 1985. Geochemistry of Natural Waters. Martinus Nijhof/Dr. W. Junk Publishers. Dordrecht, Boston, USA.
- Welsh P. 1996. Influence of dissolved organic carbon on the speciation, bioavailability and toxicity of metals to aquatic biota in soft water lakes. Waterloo, Ontario, Canada: University of Waterloo.

1.11 Figures



Figure 1.1 – Conceptual framework for the 5 year TALER (Terrestrial-Aquatic Linakages for Ecosystem Recovery) project. This particular aspect of the overall study is focussing on the right hand side of the diagram (survival regulators) and then integrating into the other factors controlling ecosystem recovery.



Figure 1.2 – Schematic representation of the Biotic Ligand Model (BLM; Santore et al., 2001) for the speciation and toxicity of Cu^{2+} . Free metal ion (Cu^{2+}) is the toxic form of copper, acting at the respiratory surface (site of toxic action). Cu^{2+} uptake is altered by competing cations or by binding to inorganic or organic compounds. DOM quantity but not quality is taken into account in the BLM.





Figure 1.3 – Sources of DOM collected in 2011 and 2012 by portable reverse osmosis. All samples collected are considered to be soft waters from lakes/rivers on the Canadian Shield. Sample sites were White River (red), Subury (purple), and Dorset (black).

CHAPTER 2

Chemical, optical, and acute biological characterizations of DOM quality

2.1 Introduction

Copper (Cu) is an essential element that is required by most organisms; however an excess of this metal can damage vital enzymes and other proteins. This can ultimately lead to acute toxicity (Morris et al., 2003). It is generally believed that the free metal ion (Cu^{2+}) is the most toxic form of copper because it is the most bioavailable form of the metal and once accumulated it can interact to disrupt organism homeostasis (Di Toro et al., 2001). Cu toxicity may occur across a large range of Cu concentrations, depending on the conditions of the aquatic medium (e.g speciation influences such as pH and DOC, as well as hardness cations) and also the ability of the organism to regulate Cu (Sorensen, 1991; Borgmann, 1998).

Hyalella azteca is a small aquatic invertebrate found in most unpolluted freshwater lakes, ponds, and streams across the Canadian Boreal Shield (Shuhaimi-Othman and Pascoe, 2001). It is known to be sensitive to metals such as copper, nickel, and cadmium and has been studied extensively (Borgmann et al., 2005; Norwood et al., 2007). Furthermore, there are established standard test methods for this organism (Environment Canada 1997, 2013). Therefore, *Hyalella azteca* are good model organisms and are considered to be relevant organism in terms of Canadian environmental protection.

Natural dissolved organic matter (DOM) occurs in aquatic systems as a heterogeneous mixture that varies in complexity and is difficult to characterize. DOMs are often classified based on origin, either terrigenous or autochthonous (McKnight and Aiken, 1998). Terrigenous DOM is comprised mainly of humic acids and fulvic acids and enters into aquatic ecosystems primarily via the terrestrial runoff carrying decomposed plant and animal matter (McKnight and Aiken, 1998). Autochthonous DOM consists mainly of nitrogenous and aliphatic groups as well

21

as hydrophilic acids and originates within the aquatic system by the primary production activity of aquatic photosynthetic organisms (McKnight et al., 2001). DOM is often characterized based on the concentration of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and the typical range in freshwater ecosystems is from 1 - 15 mg C/L (Thurman, 1985; David et al., 1997). DOM can significantly reduce the bioavailability of metals in aquatic environments, by binding free metal ions and thereby mitigating toxicity (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004). Numerous studies have shown a similar pattern of Cu LC50 increases with increasing DOC concentration (e.g. Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Kramer et al., 2004; De Schamphelaere et al., 2004; Erickson et al., 1996) and Welsh (1996) showed that the LC50 for *H. azteca* increased from 0.13 to 0.94 μ M Cu when the DOC concentration increased from 0.4 to 3.4 mg C/L. DOM can provide a protective effect against the toxicity of Cu to aquatic organisms in a DOC concentration-dependent manner.

It is hypothesized that sources of DOM vary in their potential to ameliorate metal toxicity due to the relative composition of different Cu-binding groups (e.g. phenolics, carboxylics, hydroxyls) as a result of unique inputs from the surrounding landscape (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004). Differences (up to four-fold) among DOM sources in mitigating acute Cu toxicity have been observed in studies with *Daphnia magna* (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Ryan et al., 2009; De Schamphelaere et al., 2004), the fathead minnow (Ryan et al., 2004) and rainbow trout (Gheorghiu et al., 2010; Schwartz et al., 2004; Richards et al., 2001). It is evident that there are differences among sources of DOM with respect to the ability to bind Cu and reduce metal bioavailability and although there are hypotheses, it is still unclear why these differences exist and what the linkages are between DOM source and protection against Cu toxicity.

Numerous chemical and optical methods have been developed for characterization of DOM to quantify the variability among DOM sources. The review by Abbt-Braun et al (2004)

provides a detailed overview of techniques commonly used to characterize DOM. Cu ion selective electrode (ISE) can be used to measure free Cu²⁺ in order to determine the binding capacity and affinity of each DOM source for Cu (Schwartz and Vigneault, 2007; Lu and Allen, 2002). One of the optical characterizations involves measuring the absorbance of the DOM sources at 340 nm to calculate specific absorption coefficient (SAC₃₄₀) values in order to assess the aromaticity of the samples. Darker, more aromatic DOMs have been generally found to be more protective against acute Cu toxicity (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Schwartz et al., 2004). Another technique that can be employed to optically distinguish differences among DOM sources is fluorescence excitation emission matrix spectroscopy (EEMS). Through this type of analysis, the fluorescence index (FI) can be used to determine DOM origin (e.g. terrigenous vs. autochthonous; McKnight et al., 2001). Additionally, from EEMS, the relative percent composition of the DOM sources can be determined using a multi-variate analysis known as parallel factor analysis (PARAFAC; De Palma et al., 2011; Stedmon et al., 2003). Briefly, all EEMS data are compiled and PARAFAC identifies as well as quantifies relative amounts of four specific fluorophores (HA-like, FA-like, tyrosine-like, and tryptophan-like) (Al-Reasi et al., 2011; De Palma et al., 2011). This type of analysis elucidates molecular differences among DOM sources and may explain the variability observed among DOM sources in mitigating Cu toxicity. The amount of humic-like substance has been found to generally correlate well with protection against acute Cu toxicity because of the Cu-binding groups (e.g. phenolics) that are found within humic compounds (Al-Reasi et al., 2011). A more detailed explanation of EEMS and PARAFAC analysis can be found in the review by Andersen and Bro (2003).

The biotic ligand model (BLM) is a modelling program used to predict acute metal toxicity at a specific site (the biotic ligand) in aquatic organisms based on site-specific water

quality parameters (Paquin et al., 2000). The parameters that the BLM takes into account are: the relative concentration of the free metal, complexation with organic and/or inorganic compounds, pH, and competition among cations (e.g. Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+}) for uptake at the biotic ligand (Niyogi and Wood, 2004; Paquin et al., 2000). Within the BLM (ver. 2.2.3), DOC is accounted for because it readily binds free metal ions (complexation), but it is treated as a single homogeneous entity. Although it is known that sources of DOM differ in their ability to mitigate metal toxicity based on their composition, this variability among sources has not yet been incorporated into the modelling process. There are two existing parameters that may be altered within the BLM to account for organic matter: DOC concentration and %HA content (normally set at 10%). In the future, DOM quality should be better understood so that this aspect can be integrated into improved toxicity prediction models.

The characteristics of DOM from damaged ecosystems, particularly properties related to toxicity mitigation were the focus of this project. Different types of ecosystem disturbance were assessed, for example long-term smelter damage, fire, and logging, to determine if/how terrestrial damage influences DOM source variability and quality. Two undisturbed (no human influence) reference sites were also tested. Because DOM plays a significant role in not only toxicity mitigation, but also in the delivery of carbon and nutrients to aquatic systems, it is crucial to understand how the quality of DOM can differentially protect organisms in contaminated environments (Snucins and Gunn, 2000). The goal of this research project was to develop an understanding of DOM composition (using optical and chemical characterization techniques) in relation to acute Cu toxicity mitigation. To achieve this objective, twelve DOM sources were collected from differently damaged watersheds across Ontario (Fig. 1.1, Table 2.1). DOMs were collected and characterized chemically and optically and compared to biologically-

based characterizations using the invertebrate *Hyalella azteca* as a model organism. Additionally, chemical and optical characterizations (ISE, EEMS, SAC₃₄₀, and FI) were used in conjunction with the modelling software program BLM to determine if the DOM source variability data could be incorporated to improve acute toxicity predictions. Ultimately, this research is a component of a larger study (TALER – Terrestrial-Aquatic Linkages for Ecosystem Recovery) to provide a basis for better understanding and predicting recovery and remediation processes of aquatic ecosystems that have been damaged by either metal contamination from mining/smelting emissions, fire, or logging.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 DOM Sources and Collection

DOM collections were done between July and November 2011 at ten boreal shield sites representing either lakes (n=4), streams (n=3) or outflow from wetlands (2 sites, one of which was sampled twice) and characterized for optical properties (absorbance and fluorescence), the ability to complex Cu²⁺ in solution and the capacity to influence the bioavailability and toxicity of dissolved Cu. Sites were in the Muskoka region, the Sudbury region and the White River area of Ontario, Canada (Table 2.1). The Sudbury DOM collection sites (Laurentian Lake, Laurentian Wetland, Daisy Lake, Daisy Wetland, Clearwater Lake) were chosen to provide characterization across a gradient of smelter-induced impact and subsequent recovery. All of these lakes were impacted by both acid and metals (Ni, Zn, and Cu for example) and have recovered to varying degrees (Keller et al., 2004). Clearwater Lake has undergone significant natural biological and chemical recovery since the 1970s with numerous biological communities returning to levels of the similar to pristine lakes on the Canadian Shield (Winter et al., 2004).

Two additional sites were collected in August of 2012 from Clearwater Lake at two different depths (surface water and 17m). Clearwater Lake stratifies during the summer and the samples were collected to investigate potential differences between the DOM quality between epilimnion (surface) and hypolimnion (17m depth; Beauclerc and Gunn, 2001). Daisy Lake is classified as a highly contaminated lake due to its previously acidic pH (4.7) and presence of high concentrations of both nickel and copper as a result of waste drainage from nearby mining operations (Dixit et al., 1996). The three White River sites for DOM collection (see Table 2.1) were chosen to gain an understanding of the potential for fire and logging disturbance to influence DOM quality. The White River Site 2 was from a stream draining a watershed that had 80% of the landscape burned by a forest fire 12 years previously (data from Kreutzweiser, Canadian Forest Services) while Site 3 was at the outflow of a catchment that had been logged in 2004 (Kreutzweiser et al., 2010). White River Site 1 and the Muskoka collection site (Harp Lake) represented undisturbed reference sites that had no anthropogenic influence on the DOC or metal concentrations within the water.

All DOM sources were collected and preserved following the methods described by Schwartz et al. (2004) using a custom built portable reverse osmosis unit equipped with 400 Da molecular mass-cutoff membranes (FilmTec FT30, Minneapolis, MN). Typically the collection process involved reducing 250 L of surface water to 8L of concentrate. DOM concentrates were resinated to pH 2 using an H⁺ cation-exchange resin (USF C-211 H cation resin, U.S. Filter Corporation, Rockford IL) to remove all residual metals and cations from DOM binding sites, after which it was refrigerated for storage (Schwartz et al., 2004) in polyethylene acid-washed containers.

2.2.2 Hyalella azteca Culture

Hyalella azteca used in toxicity testing were collected in August 2010 from Hannah Lake, near Sudbury which is a lake that had been previously damaged but had recovered (as a result of additions of lime in the 1970s; Yan et al., 1996). This liming process has resulted in a stable and neutral pH that supports healthy populations of aquatic invertebrates (Watson, 1992). Hyalella were first documented to be in Hannah Lake in 2003 and populations have remained since then (Babin-Fenske et al., 2012). Hyalella were identified using taxonomic keys (Pennak, 1978) and the species was confirmed using genetic analysis (Babin-Fenske et al., 2012). The culturing procedures for Hyalella followed the Environment Canada Standard Test Methods (Environment Canada 1997). Approximately 50-60 adults were maintained in 1.5 L glass beakers with 1.0 L of artificial soft water made with 0.1 mM CaCl₂, 0.1 mM NaHCO₃, 0.025 mM MgSO₄, and 0.005 mM KCl supplemented with 1 μ M NaBr (Borgmann et al., 1996) as well as a 5x5 cm piece of gauze to act as a substrate (Shuhaimi-Othman and Pascoe, 2001). The pH of the culture medium was 7.2 \pm 0.1, hardness 13 mg CaCO₃/L and the temperature was 21°C. The media was replaced once per week and Hyalella were fed 5 mg of ground Tetramin flakes three times per week (Borgmann and Munawar 1989).

2.2.3 Acute Toxicity Tests

Acute (96h) toxicity tests with DOM added at 5 mg DOC/L and Cu concentrations ranging from 0. 5 - 4 μ M were done to assess the protective influence of DOM sources and for comparison additional trials were also done with no added DOM (Cu only with concentrations ranging from 0.125 – 4 μ M). Tests were carried out in duplicate 400 mL beakers, with 250 mL of test solution made with culture water and containing 10 *H. azteca* of age 2 – 9 days, following standard methods (Environment Canada 1997). Each test series included an unexposed control

that contained only artificial soft water (no Cu or DOM) and in tests with added DOM, a positive control with only DOM (no Cu) was included. Test solutions were prepared 24h prior to test initiation to allow for the equilibration of the solutions (Kim et al., 1999) and during this time a piece of 5x5 cm gauze was also equilibrated with the exposure solution in a separate beaker (Neumann et al., 1999). Food was not added during acute toxicity tests. When conducting toxicity tests with DOM, solutions were prepared by appropriately diluting concentrate and adjusting the pH to 7.2 with 0.1M NaOH (Schwartz et al., 2004).

2.2.4 Short term Cu Bioaccumulation

To assess the capacity of DOM to alter Cu bioavailability, short term (6h) bioaccumulation experiments were done with a subset of selected DOMs. A 6h exposure period was chosen as this was previously shown to be sufficient time to allow for significant accumulation but also before acute toxicological effects became evident (Livingstone undergraduate thesis, 2010). Test solutions were prepared as described for the toxicity testing using the DOM sources that showed elevated protection capacity or weak protective capacity (White River sites 1, 2 and 3, Daisy Lake and Harp Lake) and as with toxicity tests, a concentration of 5 mg DOC/L was used. Short term accumulation was also measured in Cu solutions without added DOM.

2.2.5 Sampling and Characterization

Cu and TOC Analysis

Water sampling during toxicity tests consisted of 10 mL samples for both total and dissolved (0.45 µm filtered; Acrodisc HT tuffryn membranes, Pall Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI) Cu concentrations at test initiation and completion. Cu concentrations were measured via
graphite furnace atomic absorption spectroscopy (GF - AAS: SpectAA-880, with GTA 100, Varian Inc, Palo Alto, CA). Two certified reference materials were used to verify measurements (TMDA 26.3, National Water Research Institute, Burlington, ON and SRM 1643e from National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg MD, USA). Samples for GF – AAS were acidified with a 1% volume of 16N HNO₃ (Trace Metal Grade, Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). The concentration of ions (Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+}) in the solutions of a subset of samples from each acute toxicity test was determined via flame - AAS.

Water samples (30 ml) were also collected for subsequent analysis of DOC concentrations in the test media. Samples were filtered (0.45 μ m as described above) and then kept at 4 °C until measurement and DOC was measured using a TOC analyzer. DOC concentrations from acute toxicity tests (except for CWL-s and CWL-d) were measured using the Shimadzu TOC-V (with ASI-V autosampler, Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON) while all other DOC measurements (6h bioaccumulation, ISE, and optical measurements) were completed with Shimadzu TOC-L_{CPH/CPN}. Earlier DOC measurements were based on total organic carbon (inorganic carbon was subtracted from the total to obtain the amount of DOC) and were calibrated with inorganic (sodium bicarbonate) and organic (potassium hydrogen phthalate) standards. The later DOC measurements were conducted using non-purgable organic carbon (NPOC) analysis. Standard solutions for total carbon were used as reference when analysis was conducted (5 and 10 mg C/L) and were prepared from potassium hydrogen phthalate (Mandel Scientific, Guelph ON).

Tissue digests

At the end of the short term bioaccumulation tests, individual amphipods were transferred to a paper towel to remove excess moisture and then to put into 0.6 mL sample tubes, dried at 80° C for 48h and then weighed to the to the nearest µg using a Sartorius SE2 Ultra Micro Balance (Sartorius Mechantronics Corp., Bohemia, NY, USA). Next, *Hyalella* were individually digested in 25 µL of 16N HNO₃ for 6 days. Following this, 20 µL of hydrogen peroxide was added and after 24h the final volume was brought to 250 µL per *Hyalella* using de-ionized water (Neumann et al., 1999). Cu content in each organism was measured by GF-AAS as described above.

2.2.6 Characterization of DOM Quality

All quality characterizations were conducted on filtered samples at 5 mg C/L and the pH was adjusted to 7.2 ± 0.1 .

DOM Binding Capacity Characterization

Free Cu^{2+} was measured in solutions by ion selective electrode (ISE) using an Orion Ionplus Cu electrode (Orion Ionplus, Thermo Electron Corporation, Beverly, MA) to determine the binding capacity and affinity of each DOM source for Cu. The electrode was calibrated before measurements were taken; a two-point calibration was generated with two buffers: glycine (0.001M) and ethylene diamene (0.001M) following the methods outline by Belli and Zirino (1993). Test solutions (50 ml) were prepared by spiking DOM solutions (WR sites 1, 2, 3, DL and HL at 5 mg C/L) with Cu to achieve nominal concentrations of $0.063 - 2\mu$ M. Total Cu concentrations were measured by GF-AAS as described above. Free Cu²⁺ was measured in millivolts (mV) as the solution was passed through the electrode using a flow-through system. The mV response was documented when readings stabilized to ± 0.1 mV/min.

Optical Characterization

Fluorescence and absorbance measurements were done in a 1 cm quartz cuvette (Hellman Canada Ltd., Concord Canada) that was rinsed with Milli-Q water (18 Mohm, Millipore Corporation, Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) and DOM solutions before measurement. EEMS measurements were taken for each DOM source (5 mg C/L) using a fluorometer (Cary Eclipse, Varian, Mississauga, Ontario) following the methodology outlined by Smith and Kramer (1999). Excitation wavelengths started at 200 nm, increasing in 10 nm steps to a maximum of 450 nm while emission was computed across a wavelength range of 250-600 nm. Parallel factor analysis (PARAFAC) was used to analyze the EEMS data (described below). DOM quality was also assessed by measuring the absorbance (against a blank de-ionized water sample) of each source at 340 nm in order to examine the aromaticity of each source. Absorbance measurements were converted into specific absorption coefficients (SAC₃₄₀; see section 2.1.7; Richards et al., 2001). Fluorescence index (FI) was calculated in order to distinguish between the origins of each DOM source (terrigenous or autochthonous; McKnight et al., 2001).

2.2.7 Calculations and Statistical Analyses

The lethal concentration resulting in 50% mortality (LC50) was calculated with mortality data and measured dissolved copper concentrations using the trimmed Spearman Karber method (Hamilton et al., 1977) within CETIS (Comprehensive Environmental Toxicity Information System, Tidepool Software, 2005). Significant differences between LC50s were deemed to occur when 95% confidence intervals did not overlap (Gillis et al., 2010). However, if any

confidence intervals did overlap, the Litchfield and Wilcoxon method was utilized to determine if they were significantly different (Environment Canada, 2005). Whole organism Cu body burden was normalized for the dry weight of individual *Hyalella* (µg Cu/g dry weight). A oneway ANOVA (Fisher LSD) was used to compare bioaccumulation measurements between exposure concentrations and the control within a test or to compare between toxicity tests at one concentration. The limit for significance was p<0.05. Short term bioaccumulation was modelled using body burdens at different exposure concentrations within each tested DOM source using the Michaelis-Menten equation (a Langmuir isotherm):

$$Y = (V_{max} \times X) / (K_m + X)$$
Equation 1

where Y is the whole body Cu accumulation (μ g Cu/g dry weight), V_{max} represents the maximum binding of dissolved Cu to the ligand (μ g Cu/g dry weight), X is the concentration in the exposure medium (μ M Cu), and K_m is a measure of the binding affinity, the Cu concentration that results in half V_{max}.

Standard curves generated from the ISE procedure were utilized to convert ISE measurements (mV) into free Cu^{2+} . By subtracting free Cu^{2+} from total Cu, the Cu bound to DOC was determined. Free Cu^{2+} and Cu bound to DOC were plotted and binding curves were generated using SigmaPlot. The function used was a hyperbolic rise to saturation as determined by Equation 1, however, where Y is the amount of Cu bound to DOC (mol Cu/mg C), B_{max} is the maximum binding capacity of the DOM source (mol Cu/mg C), K_m is the free Cu^{2+} exposure concentration that produced the half-saturation of the DOM, and X is the free Cu^{2+} . K_m values were expressed by using the negative logarithm (base 10) of the concentration values.

The relative amount of humic acid-like (HA-like) and fulvic acid-like (FA-like) was determined by creating an excitation-emission based characterization of the fluorophores

obtained from the EEMS data (De Palma et al., 2011). The EEMS data was analyzed using the program MatLabTM using the PLS toolbox version 3.7 (The MathWorks, MA, USA). Twodimensional contour plots were created, along with PARAFAC analysis, using MatLabTM. The resolution of these contour plots was improved with the removal of the Rayleigh-Tyndall scattered light (two high intensity bands diagonal bands of light; De Palma et al., 2011). PARAFAC analysis derived specific components of each DOM source including HA-like and FA-like fluorophores (Stedmon et al., 2003). The HA-like constituents excite at 350 nm and 240 nm and will emit at 400-500 nm, whereas the FA-like component will excite at 320 nm and 240 nm while emitting at 400 nm (Stedmon et al., 2003). The tyrosine-like component is known to excite at 225 and 275 nm while emitting at 360 nm. Finally, the tryptophan-like fluorophore will excite at 220 and 275 nm and emit at 300 nm. With PARAFAC, the relative amount of each component was determined for each source of DOM. The quantity of each component was summed together to allow for the calculation of the relative percent of each component found within each source of DOM. Originally a four component model was utilized to explain the fluorescence trends; however it did not provide a significant explanation for the data set. Therefore, we moved toward a five component model that reduced the trends in the residuals and explained 98% of the data. The fifth component was operationally defined and not associated with a standard component, however it was found to emit at long wavelengths similar to HA-like Furthermore, fluorescence data was used to calculate the fluorescence index (FI) as substances. a method to differentiate between DOM source origins using Equation 2 (McKnight et al., 2001).

$$FI = (EI_{450}) / (EI_{500})$$
 Equation 2

where EI_{450} and EI_{500} are the emission intensities at 450 and 500 nm following excitation at 370 nm.

Absorption measurements were converted to SAC_{340} values using the following equation from Richards et al (2001):

$$SAC_{340} = [2303 \text{ x} (Abs_{340})] / DOC$$
 Equation 3

where Abs_{340} is the absorbance 340 nm and DOC is the measured dissolved organic carbon content (in mg C/L).

The quality factor (QF) used to adjust the BLM was calculated using measured SAC_{340} values according to the equation from Schwartz et al (2004):

$$F = 0.31 \text{ x} (\ln \text{SAC340})$$
 Equation 4

where F is multiplied with the measured DOC concentration and input into the BLM as the "improved/surrogate" DOC concentration.

Binding characteristics (B_{max} and K_m from ISE and 6h Cu accumulation studies) were correlated to all of the characterization measurements outlined in Table 5. Correlation coefficients (r) were determined by the Pearson product moment method (n=5) and significance is taken at p<0.05.

2.2.8 Modelling

The Biotic Ligand Model (ver. 2.2.3; HydroQual Inc., New Jersey, USA) was used with measured water chemistry concentrations to generate acute toxicity predictions. Because a BLM does not exist for *H. azteca*, the *Daphnia pulex* files were used with adjustments to develop a *Hyalella* specific soft-water BLM. In each modelling scenario the LA50 input value was adjusted to achieve the best overall fit between the measured and predicted LC50s (Clifford and McGeer, 2009). This *Hyalella*-specific BLM was then used to predict the protective effect of different DOM sources. To correct the model for DOM quality, two parameters were altered: %HA and active DOC concentration. The humic acid content was adjusted for each source

based on the results obtained from PARAFAC analysis. The active DOC concentration parameter was adjusted using the quality factor (QF) method developed by Schwartz et al (2004), with SAC₃₄₀ being utilized as a surrogate measure for the DOC concentration. The constant within the QF equation was changed from 0.31 (Schwartz et al., 2004) to 0.339 in order to better fit the model so that organism sensitivity (LA50) did not have to be altered to account for DOM source variability.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Acute Toxicity Tests

Controls showed good survival during acute toxicity test, always greater than 80% and *Hyalella* also survived well in solutions with added DOM with no added Cu. Measured Cu concentrations were generally with 95% of nominal target concentrations. Measured Cu concentrations for total and dissolved Cu at the beginning of tests were in close agreement; the mean for dissolved concentrations was 96.7% (SEM 0.23, n= 96) with a range from 87 to 101%. This was also true for measurements taken at the end of the tests where the mean for dissolved concentrations was 96.2% (SEM 0.43, n= 96) of total with a range from 85 to 108%). Dissolved Cu concentrations were relatively constant within tests and measured concentrations at the end were 95.5% (SEM of 0.79, n=96) of those at test initiation.

The acute LC50 values varied considerably depending on DOM source, all of which provided at least some degree of protection against the effects of Cu (Fig. 2.1). The average measured LC50 value for six Cu tests with no added DOM was 0.67 μ M, while those with added DOM (at 5 mg DOC/L) ranged from 1.1 – 2.5 μ M (Fig. 2.1). Five of the DOM sources (LL, LW, CWL, HL, and WR1) offered a statistically significantly higher level of protection against

acute Cu toxicity. The remaining five DOM sources (DL, DW, LW2, WR2, and WR3) provided less protection against Cu toxicity and the LC50s were not significantly different from the Cuonly exposure. DOM samples from CWL were taken in the summer of 2012 at two different depths (surface (CWL-s) and 17m (CWL-d)). The LC50 value for solutions with DOM collected from the hypolimnion (CWL-d) was 1.4 μ M while that from the epilimnion (CWL-s) was 1.1 μ M. The DOM from either depth did not significantly reduce Cu toxicity (Fig. 2.1) nor did they significantly differ from one another.

2.3.2 Short Term (6h) Accumulation

Short term accumulation was assessed in *Hyalella* exposed to a range of Cu concentrations up to 2 μ M. In all tests, Cu accumulation patterns were typical of saturable kinetics, characterized by a rapid increase in whole body burden and then a plateau as saturation occurred at elevated Cu exposures (Fig. 2.2). In tests without DOM, the accumulation was elevated compared to tests with DOM added at 5 mg DOC/L. Curve fitting parameters (binding capacity and binding affinity) were generated using Michaelis-Menten-like kinetics (Table 2.2). *Hyalella* from the Cu only exposure had the highest V_{max} (262 μ g Cu/g dry weight) while *Hyalella* sampled from the WR1 (reference site) DOM test exposures had the lowest calculated V_{max} (147 μ g Cu/g dry weight; Fig. 2.2; Table 2.2).

2.3.3 Optical Characterizations of DOM

The relative composition (as determined by PARAFAC analysis) was unique for the twelve tested DOM sources (Table 2.3). DL had the highest humic acid content (57%), while CWL-s had the lowest amount of humic acid (6%) but the highest fulvic acid content (50%). The relative amount of proteinaceous compounds (tryptophan and tyrosine) was consistent

among DOM sources, with the exception of the three CWL sites (CWL, CWL-s, and CWL-d) which were found to have the highest amount of protein-like substances (12-28%). The fluorescence index (FI) values ranged from 1.2 (LW-July) to 2.3 (CWL; Table 2.3).

2.3.4 ISE Characterizations of DOM

Results from ISE were used to measure free Cu²⁺ and derive binding capacity coefficients for each source of DOM (Fig. 2.4, Table 2.4). DL, WR2, and WR3 were the least effective sources of DOM at binding Cu, as shown by having the lowest binding capacity coefficients (B_{max}) of 0.6 ± 0.1 µM Cu/mg C, 0.7 ± 0.06 µM Cu/mg C, and 0.7 ± 0.05 µM Cu/mg C respectively (Table 2.4). WR1 DOM had the highest B_{max} (1.0 ± 0.1 µM Cu/mg C), while HL had intermediate B_{max} values (0.8 ± 0.003 and; Table 2.4) indicating an intermediate binding capacity.

2.3.5 Correlations Among Biological, Optical, and Chemical Measures

The HA-content (determined from PARAFAC) was positively correlated to the 96h LC50 values (r = 0.51, p>0.05) however the relationship was not considered to be significant (Fig. 2.3A, Table 2.5). SAC₃₄₀ values strongly correlated to LC50 values (r = 0.91, p<0.001) indicating that SAC₃₄₀ measurements provided a strong and reliable indication of how protective each DOM source was when compared to measured LC50 values (Fig 2.3B, Table 2.5).

Correlation analysis (using Pearson Product Moment) among the optical measurements showed that 6 relationships were significant (Table 2.5). Three significant relationships were found between B_{max} (from ISE) and SAC₃₄₀ (r = 0.87, p<0.05), FI (r = -0.99, p<0.001), and 96h LC50 (r = 0.86, p<0.05). Both the SAC₃₄₀ and LC50 increased when the DOM had a higher binding capacity for Cu. Additionally, significant correlations were seen between the LC50 and

FI (r = -0.81, p<0.05) and the LC50 and SAC₃₄₀ (r = 0.91, p<0.0001). More protective DOM sources (high LC50) had a low FI value but a high SAC₃₄₀. The highest degree of significance among correlations was found between the LC50 and SAC₃₄₀, as well as between the B_{max} and FI.

2.3.6 Modelling

BLM predictions for acute Cu toxicity with adjusted quality parameters are plotted in Fig. 2.5. Without any modifications, BLM predictions were constant but measured toxicity was variable. Four DOM samples fell within the 25% boundary of the one-to-one line of prediction (Fig. 2.5A). Using the %HA proportion derived from PARAFAC to adjust from the default %HA value within the BLM (10%), Cu toxicity was fairly well predicted with only four samples that were not predicted within the 25% boundary of the one-to-one line of prediction (Fig. 2.5B). Incorporating the quality factor (QF) to adjust the DOC concentration (based on SAC₃₄₀ values) improved predictions, with all samples being predicted within the 25% boundary (Fig. 2.5C). When both %HA and QF were incorporated into the BLM, there were six samples that were not predicted within the 25% boundary.

2.4 Discussion

This study shows that *Hyalella azteca* are sensitive to Cu and that DOM provides protection against Cu toxicity that varied with source (Fig. 2.1). This protection was associated (not significantly) with a reduction of short term Cu accumulation (Fig. 2.2) and correlated to some of the optical characteristics, particularly SAC₃₄₀ and FI (Fig. 2.3B and Table 2.3). The ameliorative influence of DOM on Cu toxicity was predicted within the BLM by adjusting for

the relative sensitivity of *Hyalella* and predictions were then further improved through modifications to DOC paramaters to account for source quality (Fig. 2.5).

Variations in protective capacity against acute Cu toxicity among DOM sources has also been documented for other species including *Daphnia magna* (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004; Al-Reasi et al., 2012), rainbow trout (Richards et al., 2001; Schwartz et al., 2004), and the fathead minnow (Ryan et al., 2004). Protective differences among our DOM sources (i.e. differences in LC50 among sources when tested at the same DOC concentration) varied by approximately 2.5 fold and this is similar to the DOM source variation observed in previous studies looking at similar parameters such as LT50 (Schwartz et al., 2004) and Cu-gill binding (Luider et al., 2004). Variation in protective capacity among DOM sources has been reported to be as high as 4 fold in other studies where organisms are exposed to Cu or other metals including Hg (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Ryan et al., 2004; Playle, 1998). In these latter studies, a wide range of DOM source types were compared: autochthonous, sewage-derived, terrigenous, and Aldrich humic acid (coal-derived). In comparison, the DOMs from this study were all of natural origins and primarily of terrigenous origin which may explain the lower degree of variability among the DOM sources in mitigating acute Cu toxicity.

The toxicity mitigation provided by the different DOMs was influenced by both the type and severity of the ecosystem disturbance. The undisturbed sites (WR1 and HL) provided the highest level of protection while the most disturbed sites (WR2 fire site and DL smelter site) were the least effective in protecting against acute Cu toxicity. The landscapes surrounding these watersheds are recovering and it is possible that the DOM is of a lower quality as a result of the ecosystem disruption. The WR3 (logging site) provided an intermediate level of protection, despite being logged seven years prior to sample collection (Kreutzweiser, 2010). Meyer and Tate (1983) found that clear-cut logging resulted in a reduced concentration of DOC within an aquatic system but the effect on DOM quality was not studied. Although the logging process removes wood material from the terrestrial landscape, debris (e.g leaf litter, brush) are left behind and undoubtedly become important inputs to the recovery process. While this study suggests that the quality of DOM from disrupted environments can vary, the factors that determine DOM characteristics and the terrestrial (and aquatic) process linked to those factors are not understood.

LW (Laurentian Wetland) was found to be very protective, with an LC50 similar to that of the reference sites, although it is a site recovering from long term disturbance. When comparing the protective capacity of Sudbury DOMs, wetland sources were generally more protective than lake sources (Fig. 2.1). DOM from DW provided protection that was 11% higher than that of DL, while LW provided 23% more protection against Cu toxicity compared to LL. This protective effect may be related to the significant role that wetlands play in acting as a longterm repository of terrigenous DOM into aquatic systems (Hiriart-Baer et al., 2008) and quality does not appear to be severely impacted as a result of long term smelter depositions. The LW sampling site was heavily vegetated with deciduous trees and this may have contributed to both the high quantity and quality of organic matter (Schiff et al., 1997).

DOM from the LW site was collected at two different time points (July and November) to determine if toxicity mitigation properties changed seasonally. LW-DOM from the November collection was found to be significantly less protective compared to the sample collected in mid-summer (i.e. the November sample LC50 was only 53% of the summer sample; Fig. 2.1). Cuss et al (2010) noted that catchments that are not influenced by wetlands tend to be more variable across seasons (e.g. carboxylic acid content, modelled Cu speciation), while wetlands are more

stable so it was unexpected to find a significant difference in protectivity between the samples collected in the summer compared to late fall. One possible explanation for the difference between the summer and fall DOM samples is that humic acid-like fluorophores (generally associated with binding free metals) have been found to be at increased levels in the spring and summer months while in the fall and winter, these levels generally decrease (Stedmon and Markager, 2005). This was supported by the fluorescence EEMS measurements which showed differences in humic like fractions (Table 2.3). Another possibility is that the prolonged UV and/or microbial degradation creates smaller molecular weight compounds in the fall samples which are associated with less effective metal binding (Aitkenhead-Peterson et al., 2003). It is worth noting that there was a prolonged period of drought between July and October with little precipitation and no outflow from Laurentian and Daisy Wetlands (personal communication E. Szkokan-Emilson, Laurentian University). This dry period may have led to enhanced UV degradation and oxidation. Sampling in November was following a series of rain events resulting in relative high outflow rates and low DOC concentrations (see Table 2.1). Clearly there are seasonal differences in DOM source quality and these are deserving of further study.

Short term (6h) whole body Cu accumulation, which was measured in the presence of a subset of the DOM sources, generally correlated to 96h LC50 values and provided confirmation of BLM theoretical principles (Di Toro et al., 2001). Cu was rapidly accumulated and saturable uptake kinetics (Michaelis-Menten type) was evident (Fig. 2.2, Table 2.2) as would be expected (McGeer et al 2003; Borgmann, 1998). Cu binding was reduced when LC50 values were increased (Table 2.5) and DOM sources that were protective generally resulted in lower V_{max} values (Fig. 2.2, Table 2.5). Cu accumulation was reduced to the greatest degree when the WR1 (reference site) DOM was present and to a lesser amount when WR2 (fire site) DOM was tested

(Fig. 2.2). An intermediate level of Cu was accumulated when HL (reference site), WR3 (logging site) and DL (smelter site) DOMs were present in solution. The capacity to mitigate against acute toxicity appears to be somewhat correlated with reductions in short term accumulation of Cu (Fig. 2.2 and Table 2.2).

ISE measurements of Cu²⁺ in solution with added DOMs generally supported the toxicity and short term Cu binding results. Sources such as WR1, which was the most protective against Cu toxicity and showed the lowest short term accumulation had the highest affinity as well binding capacity for Cu^{2+} (Table 2.3). DOM sources with a relatively low capacity for toxicity mitigation (a greater short term Cu accumulation), such as Daisy Lake and WR2, had the highest K_m values (lower affinity) and a relatively lower binding capacity (Table 2.3). The binding capacity (B_{max}) of each DOM source was significantly correlated with toxicity mitigation (LC50, Table 2.5). ISE determined that the binding properties of the DOM sources are consistent with the observation that ecosystem level disruption can reduce the quality of DOM. In the Norwegian NOM-Typing Project, a large set of NOM samples were analyzed, however, the variable Cu-binding capacities did not offer an explanation for differences in the toxicity mitigation properties of the NOM sources (Abbt-Braun and Frimmel, 1999). However, based on the binding characteristics of each DOM source and the protective capacity, our data shows that there is an overlap between the "analytical window" and the "toxicological window" and this illustrates that ISE is an effective method to explain the differences observed among DOM sources in mitigating Cu toxicity.

The relative composition of each DOM source, as determined through EEMS and PARAFAC, was somewhat associated with the patterns of ecosystem disturbance observed with the acute toxicity and ISE data (Fig. 2.1, 2.4, Table 2.3). For example, WR1 DOM (one of the

most protective sites) had one of the highest amounts of HA-like content, which is commonly associated with higher levels of protection (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Schwartz et al., 2004), while WR2 (damaged fire site) was one of the least protective sites and also had one of the lowest amounts of HA-like content. Interestingly, DL (smelter site) was found to have the highest amount of HA-like substance although it was one of the least protective sources of DOM (Fig. 2.3B). There appears to be a component within this DOM that fluoresces similar to humic acid but does not contribute to toxicity mitigation and this may be related to the harsh damage that this site is recovering from (Fig. 2.3B). The three samples from CWL were found to have the highest amounts of protein-like substances (Table 2.3) and this may be a result of human input from the large number of houses surrounding Clearwater Lake (Stokes et al., 1984). It is important to note that the three wetland samples (DW, LW, and LW-N) all had high amounts (>30%) of the undefined fifth component that fluoresces at a longer wavelength than HA (Table 2.3). The remaining DOM sources had less than 22% of this component. It is evident that there is an additional component found within wetlands that may contribute to an improved capacity for toxicity mitigation compared to lake samples. We found no significant correlation between Cu toxicity and the amino acid content of DOM sources which is supported by a study with marine DOM sources and the influence on Cu toxicity to marine mussels (De Palma et al., 2011). There was a positive relationship found between HA and LC50 (r = 0.5 p > 0.05) but the correlation with HA or any of the other components determined by PARAFAC were not considered to be significant.

The SAC₃₄₀ values calculated for the DOMs used in this study varied from a low of 9.7 (CWL-s) to a high of 45 (LW-July; Fig. 2.3B, Table 2.3). A strong correlation was observed between SAC₃₄₀ and the protectivity of each DOM source (Fig. 2.3B, Table 2.3) and this is

similar to other studies that tested the protective effects of Cu on daphnids (Al-Reasi et al. 2012; De Schamphelaere et al 2004), rainbow trout (Schwartz et al., 2004), and the fathead minnow (Ryan et al., 2004). This strong relationship implies that darkly coloured DOMs (i.e. more aromatic) are more effective in mitigating Cu toxicity compared to sources that are lighter in colour. Carbonaro et al (2011) and Al-Reasi et al (2013) discuss why SAC₃₄₀ is considered to be a valuable predictor of DOM quality; the functional groups on the aromatic rings (carboxylics and phenolics) tend to bind Cu strongly as well as allow for multiple binding sites for Cu. This correlation to protection is consistent with the short term accumulation as well as the ISE measurements. Similarly, the fluorescence Index (FI) was found to have a significant (but negative) correlation with both B_{max} and LC50. The DOM sources with lower FI values were found to have increased binding capacities and increased toxicity mitigation potential. Al-Reasi et al (2012) also observed a similar relationship between FI and Cu toxicity mitigation in Daphnia magna, however the results were not considered to be statistically significant. In contrast, a number of studies have shown that there is a very weak or no correlation between these two variables (Gheorghiu et al., 2010; Ryan et al., 2004). Although FI has not been an always been effective in describing differences among DOM sources, the relationship observed between the FI and acute Cu toxicity mitigation from these sources allows us to consider FI as a potential indicator for DOM quality of damaged/recovering ecosystems. Additional significant relationships were observed, although they may be less relevant. For example, there were significant positive correlations found between K_m (binding affinity from ISE) and the amino acid content (both tryptophan and tyrosine); there were no similar relationships reported within the literature. However, utilizing the Pearson Product Moment as a method of correlation

analysis allowed us to compare all of the DOM characterization variables to determine which were most significant.

Adjusting the BLM to account for soft waters and *Hyalella* sensitivity to Cu in the presence of different DOM sources allowed us to generate reasonable toxicity predictions (Fig. 2.5). Originally, 5 mg DOC/L was input into the model and an intermediate toxicity prediction was calculated but the goal was to see if we could incorporate any previously discussed quality parameters to account for DOM source variation (Fig. 2.5A). As a result of a strong correlation between %HA-like content and LC50, Al-Reasi et al (2012) were able to indirectly adjust the model to incorporate DOM quality, using SAC₃₄₀ and %HA correlations. However, in our study we did not find observe a significant relationship between the previously mentioned variables so we could not use the same surrogate measure (SAC₃₄₀ to replace %HA) to account for DOM source quality within the BLM.

To incorporate DOM source variability, we first manipulated the %HA content (obtained from PARAFAC analysis) and input this value (adjusted from the original recommended 10% within the BLM) for each source (Fig. 2.5B). When this parameter was adjusted, toxicity predictions were improved which was similar to Al-Reasi et al (2012) who found %HA adjustments to significantly improve acute Cu toxicity predictions. Predictions were not accurate for four of the DOM samples, all of which were from damaged sites (three from Sudbury and the logged site). It is evident that DOM from disturbed sites does not mitigate Cu toxicity as it would be predicted based on the humic acid content. Next, we wanted to use the quality factor described by Schwartz et al (2004) to incorporate DOM quality into the BLM (Fig. 2.5C). The QF uses a specific formula (see "Calculations and Statistical Analyses" in Methods) to incorporate SAC₃₄₀ measurements as a surrogate DOC concentration within the model. This was considered to be an appropriate method because we observed a strong correlation between the SAC₃₄₀ and LC50. When the QF was calculated and incorporated into the BLM, we obtained the better toxicity predictions. Predictions were consistently close to the one-to-one line and all DOM sources were predicted within the 25% boundary lines. Our next step was to incorporate both adjustments into the model (specific %HA content as well as the QF; Fig 2.5D). Incorporating %HA and QF into the BLM did not improved predictions. With this method, half of the samples were not predicted within the 25% boundary; all of the DOM samples were from disturbed ecosystems (four from Sudbury and the logged and burned sites). The most accurate and consistent toxicity predictions were generated when the SAC₃₄₀ was incorporated into the model.

In general, the predictions for samples collected from damaged areas were not as accurate or consistent as they were for samples from undisturbed reference sites. It appears that although DOM from damaged sites may have a high humic acid content (thus predicted to be protective), it does not protect against Cu toxicity in the same capacity as DOM from the undisturbed sites. However, by using the SAC_{340} to adjust the BLM ecosystem disturbance was taken into account when acute Cu toxicity predictions were generated.

2.5 Conclusions

The results from this study show that there are differences among DOM sources in mitigating acute Cu toxicity to *Hyalella azteca*. DOM source quality is negatively impacted by both the type and severity of ecosystem disturbance, with disturbed sites offering less protection than undisturbed sites. The optical and chemical characteristics (determined by SAC₃₄₀, FI, EEMS, and ISE) as well as short term (6h) bioaccumulation studies were correlated with the

toxicity mitigation properties of the DOM sources. We found that by incorporating optical characteristics (%HA from EEMS/PARAFAC and using SAC_{340} in the QF) into the BLM, we were able to improve acute Cu toxicity predictions by accounting for DOM source variability as well as ecosystem disturbance. Future research is needed to understand seasonality differences that exist within DOM sources in terms of toxicity mitigation as well as optical/chemical characterizations.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by NSERC through a CRD grant in partnership with Vale Inc., Xstrata PLC, the City of Sudbury and Natural Resources Canada and with the participation of the Ontario Ministry of the Environment as well as a Discovery Grant to JCM.

2.6 Tables

 Table 2.1 – Location, sampling dates, and background information on sites where DOM was collected by portable reverse osmosis.

Sample Site	Legend	Sampling Date	GPS Coordinates	DOC (mg C/L)	Site Characteristic
Daisy Lake	DL	07-Jul-11	N 46°45' W 80°88'	6.1	Smelter impacted – amphipods not present
Laurentian Lake	LL	08-Jul-11	N 46°44' W 80°96'	5.2	Smelter impacted – amphipods present
Laurentian Wetland (summer)	LW	08-Jul-11	N 46°45' W 80°94'	23.5	Smelter impacted – discharges to LL
White River Site 3	WR3	28-Jul-11	N 48°43' W 85°35'	11.9	Watershed logged in 2002
White River Site 2	WR2	29-Jul-11	N 48°65' W 85°36'	4.1	Watershed burned in 1999
White River Site 1	WR1	29-Jul-11	N 48°75' W 85°17'	13.8	Undisturbed site
Clearwater Lake	CWL	30-Sept-11	N 46°37' W81°05'	2.8	Smelter impacted – amphipods present
Harp Lake	HL	13-Oct-11	N 45°22' W 81°05'	10.3	Undisturbed site
Laurentian Wetland (Fall)	LW2	12-Nov-11	N 46°45' W 80°94'	n.d	Smelter impacted – discharges to LL
Daisy Wetland	DW	12-Nov-11	N 46°27' W80°52'	12.5	Smelter impacted – discharges to DL
Clearwater Lake (surface)	CWL-sur	15-Jul-12	N 46°37' W81°05'	3.2	Smelter impacted – surface water
Clearwater Lake (depth)	CWL- 17m	15-Jul-12	N 46°37' W81°05'	3.9	Smelter impacted – 17m depth

Table 2.2 – Influence of DOM (5 mg C/L) on short term (6h) Cu bioaccumulation in *Hyalella* (nominal Cu concentrations ranging from $0 - 2 \mu M$). Curve fitting parameters were determined using a Langmuir isotherm kinetics (see equation 1). V_{max} is the binding capacity given \pm standard error (n=15 at each concentration). K_m represents the binding affinity of the Cu at the biotic ligand \pm standard error (n=15 at each concentration).

NOM Source	V _{max} (binding capacity) (µg Cu/g dry weight)	K _m (binding affinity) (ng/L)	r ²
Cu Only	262 ± 25.8	6.8 ± 3.0	0.89
White River 2	195 ± 8.8	6.9 ± 3.0	0.92
Daisy Lake	166 ± 14.7	5.4 ± 4.0	0.70
White River 3	165 ± 6.9	1.0 ± 4.0	0.88
Harp Lake	162 ± 6.5	$2.3\pm0.9.0$	0.89
White River 1	147 ± 4.8	3.6 ± 1.0	0.94

Table 2.3 – Optical characteristics of DOM sources. Relative composition of DOM sources determined by PARAFAC on excitation emission matrix spectroscopy (EEMS) scans. The five components are humic-like (HA), fulvic-like (FA), tryptophan-like (Trp), tyrosine-like (Tyr), and an undefined entity named Component 5. These five components are represented as percent of total fluorescent units, which explain 98% of the variability among the DOM sources.

DOM Source	%HA	%FA	%Trp	%Tyr	%Component 5	FI	SAC ₃₄₀
Daisy Lake	58	6	8	8	20	1.4	13
Harp Lake	47	15	12	6	20	1.4	42
White River Site 1	53	14	9	6	18	1.3	40
White River Site 2	34	28	16	9	13	1.4	14
White River Site 3	55	9	7	5	23	1.4	26
Laurentian Wetland (Jul.)	54	4	5	7	31	1.2	45
Laurentian Wetland (Nov.)	35	14	9	7	34	1.6	12
Laurentian Lake	52	8	13	7	21	1.3	24
Daisy Wetland	16	22	12	8	41	1.7	15
Clearwater Lake	25	26	19	12	18	2.3	14
Clearwater Lake (surface)	6	50	28	14	2	1.9	9
Clearwater Lake (depth)	24	35	17	17	7	1.8	11

Table 2.4 – Maximum binding capacity (B_{max}) and binding affinity (K_m) for 5 DOM sources. Values were determined from Cu binding curves (Fig. 2.4) that were created from Cu²⁺ measurements by Cu ISE. A single site hyperbolic saturation model was utilized from the statistical software program SigmaPlot.

DOM Source	B _{max} (binding capacity) (μM Cu/mg C)	Log K (binding affinity) (nM)	\mathbf{r}^2
White River 1	1.0 ± 0.1	8.1 ± 4.8	0.96
White River 3	0.8 ± 0.003	48 ± 5.6	0.99
Harp Lake	0.7 ± 0.05	44 ± 12	0.98
White River 2	0.7 ± 0.06	180 ± 56	0.97
Daisy Lake	0.6 ± 0.1	110 ± 72	0.92

Table 2.5 – Correlation coefficients (r; determined by Pearson Product Moment) for measured DOM variables (Table 2, 3, 4) with ISE binding characteristics along with 6h Cu accumulation characteristics and 96h LC50. A * indicates significance (p<0.05), n=12 for optical characteristics; n=5 for ISE and 6h accumulation characteristics.

	Correlation Coefficients							
		SAG		EEMS + PARAFAC				LOSO
		SAC340	FI -	HA	FA	Tyr	Trp	- LC50
ISE Binding	B _{max} (µM Cu/mg)	0.89*	(-)0.99*	0.19	0.03	(-)0.75	(-)0.31	0.86*
Characteristics	$K_m \left(\mu M \right)$	(-)0.85	0.76	(-)0.66	(-)0.52	0.86	0.73	(-)0.80
6h	\mathbf{V}_{\max}	(-)0.71	0.61	(-)0.79	0.65	0.65	0.80	(-)0.67
Characteristics	K _m	(-)0.67	0.51	(-)0.55	(-)0.52	0.95*	0.66	(-)0.58
	LC50	0.91*	(-)0.81*	0.51	(-)0.36	(-)0.07	(-)0.42	

2.7 Figures



Figure 2.1 – Influence of DOM source on 96h LC50 (+95% CI) for dissolved Cu (μ M). The black bar represents the LC50 for a Cu only exposure (no added DOC). DOM source labels are: DL- Daisy Lake, DW- Daisy Lake Wetland, LL- Laurentian Lake, LW- Laurentian Wetland (July 2011), LW2- Laurentian Wetland (Nov. 2011), CWL- Clearwater Lake, CWL-Clearwater Lake Surface, CWLd-Clearwater Lake collected at 17m depth, HL- Harp Lake, WR- White River Sites. Open bars are undisturbed reference sites, side hatch represents Sudbury (smelter-damaged sites), dots mean logging site, and cross-hatched indicates fire site. All DOM sources were added at 5 mg DOC/L and * indicates significant difference from the Cu-only exposure.



Figure 2.2 – Whole body Cu accumulation (mean \pm SEM, n=15 at each exposure concentration) in *Hyalella azteca* over 6h exposures to different concentrations of Cu with no added DOC (filled circles) or DOC at 5 mg C/L. For *Hyalella* exposed to Cu with DOC, five DOM sources were compared: WR1 (open circles), WR2 (filled triangles), WR3 (open triangles), HL (filled squares), and DL (open squares). Cu concentrations reported as nominal (μ M). * indicates significant difference (p<0.05) from the Cu-only exposure at that specific concentration.



Figure 2.3 – Correlations between 96h LC50 with 5 mg DOC/L (with 95% c.i.) and measured optical characteristics (humic acid content and SAC₃₄₀). Symbols show reference sites (open square), Sudbury lakes (filled circle) and wetlands (triangle), as well as burned site (star) or logged (open diamond). Panels show: (**A**) Correlation of 96h LC50s with 5 mg DOC/L (with 95% c.i.) and measured humic acid content from EEMs and PARAFAC analysis. The LC50s were calculated with measured dissolved Cu concentrations (0 – 4 μ M). The observed r² value was 0.31. (**B**) Correlation of 96h LC50s and measured specific absorption coefficient at 340 nm (SAC₃₄₀). Absorbance was measured in triplicate and the SAC calculation was based on the average measured value. A significant relationship (p<0.05; Table 2.5) was observed with an r² value of 0.88.

•	DL WR2
▼	WR3
Δ	WR1
	HL



Figure 2.4 – Cu-DOM binding as a function of Cu^{2+} as calculated from ion selective electrode measurements of solution with different concentrations of total Cu (0.063 – 2.0µM) and with DOM added from different sources at a concentration of 5 mg DOC/L. Binding curves were generated using a Langmuir isotherm and these yielded the affinity and maximum binding capacity values for each DOM source (see Table 4). Open triangles represent WR1, filled triangles indicate WR3, squares signify HL, open circles are WR2, and filled circles represent DL. Free Cu²⁺ measured as millivolts and bound Cu²⁺ determined by subtracting free Cu²⁺ from total Cu.



Measured LC50 (µM Cu)

Figure 2.5 – Comparison of measured and BLM predictions of Cu toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* with 5 mg DOC/L from each of 12 different sources. Symbols show reference sites (open square), Sudbury lakes (filled circle) and wetlands (triangle), as well as burned site (star) or logged (open diamond). The solid line shows one-to-one prediction and dotted lines show the $\pm 25\%$ boundary from perfect predictions. Panels show **A**) the unmodified BLM model predictions; **B**) adjustment to %humic acid content derived from PARAFAC analysis of EEMs data; **C**) SAC₃₄₀ adjustments to DOC concentrations using the Quality Factor; and **D**) when the %HA and SAC₃₄₀ based adjustments are combined. In each modelling scenario, the LA50 input is given (nmol Cu/g wet weight) and these were adjusted to achieve the best overall fit between measured and predicted LC50s. Note that the axes are on a Log₁₀ scale.

2.8 References

- Abbt-Braun G, Lankes U, Frimmel FH. 2004. Structural characterization of aquatic humic substances – the need for a multiple method approach. Aquatic Sciences. 66: 151-170.
- Abbt-Braun G, Frimmel FH. 1999. Basic characterization of Norwegian NOM samples: Similarities and differences. Environmental International. 25: 161–180.
- Aitkenhead-Peterson JA, McDowell WH, Neff JC. 2003. Sources, production, and regulation of allochthonous dissolved organic matter to surface waters. Aquatic Ecosystems: Interactivity of dissolved organic matter. Pg25-70. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Al-Reasi HA, Wood CM, Smith DS. 2013. Characterization of freshwater natural dissolved organic matter (DOM): Mechanistic explanations for protective effects against metal toxicity and direct effects on organisms. Environment International. 59: 201-207.
- Al-Reasi HA, Smith DS, Wood CM. 2012. Evaluating the ameliorative effect of natural dissolved organic matter (DOM) quality on copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*: improving the BLM. Ecotoxicology. 21: 524-537.
- Al-Reasi HA, Wood CM, Smith DS. 2011. Physiochemical and spectroscopic properties of natural organic matter (NOM) from various sources and implications for effects on metal toxicity to aquatic biota. Aquatic Toxicology. 103: 179-190.
- Andersen CM, Bro R. 2003. Practical aspects of PARAFAC modelling of fluorescence excitation-emission data. Journal of Chemometrics. 17: 200-215.

- Babin-Fenske JJ, Merrit TJS, Gunn JM, Walsh T, Lesbarreres D. 2012. Phylogenetic analysis of *Hyalella* colonization in lakes recovering from acidification and metal contamination. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 90: 624-629.
- Beauclerc KB, Gunn, JM. 2001. Ultraviolet absorbance in lakes near the metal smelters in Sudbury, Canada. Journal of Environmental Monitoring. 3: 575-579.
- Belli SL, Zirino A. 1993. Behaviour and calibration of the copper (II) ion-selective electrode in high chloride media and marine waters. Analytical Chemistry. 65: 2583-2589.
- Borgmann U, Nowierski M, Dixon DG. 2005. Effect of major ions on the toxicity of copper to *Hyalella azteca* and implications for the biotic ligand model. Aquatic Toxicology. 73: 268-287.
- Borgmann U. 1998. A mechanistic model of copper accumulation in *Hyalella azteca*. Science of the Total Environment. 219: 137-145.
- Borgmann U. 1996. Systematic analysis of aqueous ion requirements of *Hyalella azteca*: a standard artificial medium including the essential bromide ion. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 30: 356-363.
- Borgmann U, Munawar M. 1989. A new standardized sediment bioassay protocol using the amphipod *Hyalella azteca* (Saussure). Hydrobiologia. 188: 425-531.
- Carbonaro RF, Atalay YB, Di Toro DM. 2011. Linear free energy relationships for metal-ligand complexation: bidentate binding to negatively-charged oxygen donor atoms. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta. 75: 2499-2511.

- Clifford M, McGeer JC. 2009. Development of a biotic ligand model for the acute toxicity of zinc to *Daphnia pulex* in soft waters. Aquatic Toxicology. 91: 26-32.
- Cuss CW, Gueguen C, Hill E, Dillon PJ. 2010. Spatio-temporal variation in the characteristics of dissolved organic matter in the streams of boreal forests: Impacts on modelled copper speciation. Chemosphere. 80:764-770.
- David SM, Somers RA, Reid RA, Ingram R. 1997. Crayfish species assemblages in soft water lakes in seven tertiary watersheds in south-central Ontario. Ontario Ministry of Environment and Energy Report. ISBN 0-7778-6504-1.
- De Palma SGS, Arnold WR, McGeer JC, Dixon DG, Smith DS. 2011. Effect of dissolved organic matter and reduced sulphur concentration on copper bioavailability in coastal marine environments. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 26: 230-237.
- De Schamphelaere KAC, Vasconcelos FM, Tack FMG, Allen HE, Janssen CR. 2004. Effect of dissolved organic matter source on acute copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 2348-1255.
- Di Toro DM, Allen HE, Bergman HL, Meyer JS, Paquin PR, Santore RC. 2001. Biotic ligand model of the acute toxicity of metals. 1. Technical basis. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 2383-2396.
- Dixit AS, Dixit SS, Smol JP. 1996. Setting restoration goals for an acid and metal-contaminated lake: A paleolimnological study of Daisy Lake (Sudbury, Canada). Lake and Reservoir Management. 12: 323-330.

- Environment Canada. 2013. Biological test method: Test for survival of growth in sediment and water using the freshwater amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. 2nd ed. Ottawa Ontario: Environment Canada, Method Development and Applications Section. EPS 1/RM/33.
- Environment Canada. 2005. Guidance document on statistical methods for environmental toxicity tests. Ottawa Ontario: Environment Canada, Method Development and Applications Section. EPS 1/RM/46.
- Environment Canada. 1997. Biological test method: Test for survival of growth in sediment using the freshwater amphipod *Hyalella azteca*. 2nd ed. Ottawa Ontario: Environment Canada, Method Development and Applications Section. EPS 1/RM/33.
- Erickson RJ, Benoit DA, Mattson VR, Nelson HP, Leonard EN. 1996. The effects of water chemistry on the toxicity of copper to fathead minnows. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 15: 181-193.
- Gheorghiu C, Smith DS, Al-Reasi H, McGeer JC, Wilkie MP. 2010. Influence of natural organic matter (NOM) quality on Cu-gill binding in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquatic Toxicology. 97: 343-352.
- Gillis PL, McGeer JC, Mackie GL, Wilkie MP, Ackerman JP. 2010. The effect of natural dissolved organic carbon on the acute toxicity of copper to larval freshwater mussels (Glochidia). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 29: 2519-2528.
- Hamilton MA, Russo RC, Thurston RV. 1977. Trimmed Spearman-Karber method for estimating median lethal concentrations in toxicity bioassays. Environmental Science and Technology. 11: 714-719.

- Hiriart-Baer VP, Deip N, Smith REH. 2008. Dissolved organic matter in the Great Lakes: Role and nature of allocthonous material. Journal of Great Lakes Research. 34: 383-394.
- Holbrook DR, Yen JH, Grizzard TJ. 2006. Characterizing natural organic material from the Occuquan watershed (Northern Virgina, US) using fluorescence spectroscopy and PARAFAC. Science of the Total Environment. 361: 249-266.
- Keller W, Heneberry J, Gunn JM, Snucins E, Morgan G, Leduc J. 2004. Recovery of acid and metal-damaged lakes near Sudbury Ontario: Trends and status. Cooperative Freshwater Ecology Unit, Department of Biology, Laurentian University, Sudbury ON. (Prepared for the SARA group, supporting report for the Ecological Risk Assessment, Sudbury Soils Study).
- Kim SD, Ma H, Allen HE. 1999. Influence of dissolved organic matter on the toxicity of copper to *Ceriodaphnia dubia*: Effect of complexation kinetics. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 18: 2433-2437.
- Kramer KJM, Jak RG, Hanttum BV, Hooftman RN, Zwolsman JJG. 2004. Copper toxicity in relation to surface water-dissolved organic matter: Biological effects to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemsitry. 23: 2971-2980.
- Kreutzweiser DP, Muto A, Holmes S, Gunn J. 2010. Effects of upland clearcutting and riparian partial harvesting on leaf pack breakdown and aquatic invertebrates in boreal forest streams. Freshwater Biology. 55: 2238-2252.
- Luider CD, Crusius J, Playle RC, Curtis JP. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on copper speciation as demonstrated by Cu binding to fish gills, by ion selective
electrode, and by DGT gel sampler. Environmental Science and Technology. 38: 2865-2872.

- Lu Y, Allen HE. 2002. Characterization of copper complexation with natural dissolved organic matter (DOM) link to acidic moieties of DOM and competition by Ca and Mg. Water Research. 36: 5083-5101.
- McGeer JC, Brix KV, Skeaff JM, DeForest DK, Brigham SI, Adams WJ, Green A. 2003. Inverse relationship between bioconcentration factor and exposure concentration for metals: Implications for hazard assessment of metals in the aquatic environment. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 22: 1017-1037.
- McKnight DM, Boyer EW, Westhoff PK, Doran PT, Kulbe T, Andersen DT. 2001. Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic matter and aromaticity. Limnology and Oceanography. 46: 38-48.
- McKnight DM, Aiken G. 1998. Sources and age of aquatic humus: p. 9-40 In Hessen, D.O. Travic L.J. (Eds) Aquatic humic substances: ecology and biochemistry. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- Meyer JL, Tate CM. 1983. The effects of watershed disturbance on dissolved organic carbon dynamics of a stream. Ecology. 64: 33-44.
- Morris J, Collyard S, Meyer J. 2003. Effects of chronic copper exposure on the nutritional composition of *Hyalella azteca*. Aquatic Toxicology. 63:197-206.

- Neumann PTM, Borgmann U, Norwood W. 1999. Effect of gut clearance on metal body concentrations in *Hyalella azteca*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 18: 976-984.
- Niyogi S, Wood CM. 2004. Biotic ligand model, a flexible tool for developing site-specific water quality guidelines for metals. Environmental Science and Technology. 38: 6177-6192.
- Norwood W, Borgmann U, Dixon D. 2007. Chronic toxicity of arsenic, cobalt, chromium, and manganese to *Hyalella azteca* in relation to exposure and bioaccumulation. Environmental Pollution. 147:262-272.
- Paquin PR, Santore RC, Wu KB, Kawadas CD, Di Toro DM. 2000. The biotic ligand model: a model of acute metal toxicity to aquatic life. Environmental Science and Policy.
 3:175-182.
- Pennak RW. 1978. Freshwater Invertebrates of the United States. 2nd ed. New York (NY): John Wiley and Sons Inc. p.457-462.
- Playle RC. 1998. Modelling metal interactions at fish gills. Science of the Total Environment. 219: 147-163.
- Richards JG, Curtis JP, Burnison KB, Playle RC. 2001. Effects of natural organic matter source on reducing metal toxicity to rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) and on metal binding to their gills. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 1159-1166.
- Ryan AC, Van Genderen EJ, Tomasso JR, Klaine SJ. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on copper toxicity to larval fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*):

Implications for the biotic ligand model. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 1567-1574.

- Ryan AC, Romasso JR, Klaine SJ. 2009. Influence of pH, hardness, dissolved organic carbon concentration, and dissolved organic matter source on the acute toxicity of copper to *Daphnia magna* in soft waters: Implications for the Biotic Ligand Model. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 28: 1663-1670.
- Schiff SL, Aravena R, Trumbore SE, Hinton MJ, Elgood R, Dillon PF. 1997. Export of DOC from forested catchments on the Precambrian Shield of Central Ontario: Clues from ₁₃C and ₁₄C. Biogeochemistry. 36: 43-65.
- Schwartz ML, Vigneault B. 2007. Development and validation of a chronic copper biotic ligand model for *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Aquatic Toxicology. 84: 247-254.
- Schwartz ML, Curtis PJ, Playle RC. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on acute copper, lead, and cadmium toxicity to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 2889-2899.
- Shuhaimi-Othman M, Pascoe D. 2001. Growth, development and reproduction of *Hyalella azteca* (Saussure, 1858) in laboratory culture. *Crustaceana*. 74:171-181.
- Smith DS, Kramer JR. 1999. Fluorescence analysis for multi-site aluminum binding to natural organic matter. Environmental International. 25: 295-306.
- Snucins E, Gunn J. 2000. Interannual variation of the thermal structure of clear and coloured lakes. Limnology and Oceanography. 45: 1639-1646.

- Stedmon CA, Markager S, Bro R. 2003. Tracing dissolved organic matter in aquatic environments using a new approach to fluorescence spectroscopy. Marine Chemistry. 82: 239-254.
- Stedmon, C.A., Markager, S., 2005. Resolving the variability in dissolved organic matter fluorescence in a temperate estuary and its catchments using PARAFAC analysis. Limnol. Oceanogr. 50: 686-697.
- Stokes P, Sheehan PJ, Miller DR, Butler CG, Bourdeau PH. 1984. Effects of Pollutants at the Environmental Level. Chapter 7, Case Study 7.2: Clearwater Lake: Study of an acidified lake ecosystem. New York (NY): John Wiley and Sons.

Sorensen EMB. 1991. Metal poisoning in fish. CRC, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp 235-237.

- Thurman EM. 1985. Geochemistry of Natural Waters. Martinus Nijhof/Dr. W. Junk Publishers. Dordrecht, Boston, USA.
- Watson G. 1992. Factors affecting the distribution of the freshwater amphipod (*Hyalella Azteca*) in Sudbury area lakes. B. Sc. Thesis, Laurentian University, Sudbury, Ontario, Canada.
- Welsh P. 1996. Influence of dissolved organic carbon on the speciation, bioavailability and toxicity of metals to aquatic biota in soft water lakes. Waterloo, Ontario, Canada: University of Waterloo.
- Winter JG, Keller W, Paterson AM, Somers KM, Yan ND. 2004. Monitoring biological recovery of Clearwater Lake from acid and metal contamination using phytoplankton

community composition (Brief submitted for inclusion in the 2004 National Acid Rain Assessment Report).

Yan ND, Welsh PG, Lin H, Taylor DJ, Filion JM. 1996. Demographic and genetic evidence of the long-term recovery of *Daphnia galeata mendotae* (Crustacea: Daphnidae) in Sudbury lakes following additions of base: the role of metal toxicity. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 53: 1328-1344.

CHAPTER 3

Effect of DOM source on the chronic survival, growth and accumulation of Cu to *Hyalella azteca*

3.1 Introduction

Copper (Cu) is present in all aquatic environments and concentrations range from less than 0.5 μ g/L in uncontaminated areas to >400 μ g/L in industrially contaminated ecosystems (Grosell, 2011; Keller et al., 1998). Cu is essential to most organisms and this element enters aquatic systems through both natural and anthropogenic routes. Cu toxicity may occur across a wide range of concentrations, depending on an organism's sensitivity as well as water chemistry parameters such as pH, DOC, and hardness cations (Di Toro et al., 2001; Borgmann et al., 1993). In terms of acute toxicity, the free ion form of Cu (Cu²⁺) is considered to be the most bioavailable form and is associated with toxicity (Di Toro et al., 2001).

Hyalella azteca are small, omnivorous benthic amphipods that are found in most uncontaminated freshwater lakes, ponds, and streams across North America (Shuhaimi-Othman and Pascoe, 2001). *Hyalella* are considered to be important and useful organisms for assessing the toxicity of Cu because they have been shown to be sensitive to a variety of metals including Cu (Borgmann et al., 1998). In addition to being relatively easy to culture in a laboratory setting, they have a relatively short reproductive cycle and there are established guidelines for the culture and testing of this organism (Environment Canada, 2013). The sensitivity of *Hyalella* and their importance in food web dynamics make them a highly relevant organism for studying the potential environmental impacts of Cu contamination.

The chronic effects of Cu, Cd, and Ni on *Hyalella* survival, growth, accumulation, and reproduction have been studied in hard water (e.g. Borgmann et al., 1993; Borgmann and Norwood, 1995; Morris et al., 2003; Schroeder et al., 2010; Borgmann et al., 2010), but the long term effects of Cu in soft water are less studied and it is still unclear what endpoint is the most

sensitive indicator of chronic Cu toxicity. In sediment toxicity tests, growth has been found to be the most sensitive endpoint (Kubitz et al., 1995; Roman et al., 2007) whereas in waterborne exposures, Borgmann et al (1993) have found survival to be more indicative of chronic toxicity because there were no growth effects observed after chronic Cu exposure. *Hyalella* have the ability to regulate internal Cu concentrations during chronic exposure, thus whole body bioaccumulation is not considered to be an effective indicator of long-term toxicity (Borgmann et al., 1993; Borgmann and Norwood, 1995). The chronic effects of Cu exposure on *Hyalella* in the presence of a modifying factor (e.g. dissolved organic matter) have not been documented within the literature.

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) is a term used to describe a group of complexes and molecules that arise primarily from the breakdown of plant and animal matter and enter aquatic ecosystems via runoff from the surrounding landscape (McKnight and Aiken, 1998). DOM can be difficult to characterize because it is heterogeneous and varies in its complexity. In freshwater systems the amount of DOM, quantified as dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentration, ranges from approximately 1 - 15 mg C/L (Thurman, 1985). DOMs can be classified based on their origin, either autochthonous or terrigenous (allochthonous). Autochthonous DOM is derived from microbial or algal origin from within the aquatic system and this type of DOM is made up mainly of aliphatic and nitrogenous groups. Terrigenous DOM (of terrestrial origin) consists mainly of humic and fulvic acids (McKnight et al., 2001).

It is well-established that DOM acts to mitigate acute metal toxicity in a concentrationdependant manner by binding free metal ions, thus making them unavailable for toxic action (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Kramer et al., 2004; De Schamphelaere et al., 2004; Erickson et al., 1996). Since each ecosystem is unique, it is hypothesized that all DOMs are distinct because of the presence of different Cu-binding functional groups as a result of variable inputs from the surrounding landscape (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004). A number of studies with a range of organisms, including *Daphnia magna* (Al-Reasi et al., 2012) and rainbow trout (Richards et al., 2001; Schwartz et al., 2004; Gheorghiu et al., 2010), have shown that DOM source can vary impacts of acute Cu exposure by up to 4-fold. Although DOM source variability has been documented, the reasons behind how DOM sources differ with respect to Cu binding and bioavailability are not as well understood.

A number of techniques exist to chemically and optically characterize and distinguish differences among DOM sources. Cu ion selective electrode (ISE) methods can be used to measure Cu²⁺ in solution in order to determine the binding capacity and affinity of each DOM source for free Cu (Schwartz and Vigneault, 2007; Lu and Allen, 2002). Absorbance measurements (at 340 nm) can be used to calculate SAC₃₄₀ values to assess the aromaticity of the sample (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; Schwartz et al., 2004; Richards et al., 2001). The fluorescence index (FI), based on a ratio of emission intensities at a certain excitation wavelength, is traditionally used to distinguish whether the DOM is derived from microbial or terrestrial origin (i.e. McKnight et al., 2001). Excitation-emission matrix spectroscopy (EEMS), in conjunction with PARAFAC analysis is used to devolve spectral properties into relative composition signatures of each DOM source (De Palma et al., 2011; Holbrook et al., 2006; Stedmon et al., 2003). Components such as those associated with humic-like and fulvic-like substances have been found to generally correlate well with protection against acute Cu toxicity (Al-Reasi et al., 2011; see Chapter 2). There is a lack of knowledge on whether source differences among DOMs influence the response to chronic metal exposure.

The objectives of this study were to extend the understanding of DOM source differences that was developed in the companion work (Chapter 2: optical characterization, binding capacity and acute toxicity mitigation) by comparing sources for the ability to protect against the chronic effects of Cu toxicity. Three DOM sources representing different types of ecosystem disturbance (fire, logging, or smelter-damaged) were compared to a reference source using a standard 28 d chronic test with *Hyalella azteca*. Three endpoints were assessed in these studies in order to determine DOM source variability: survival (d 14 and d 28), dry weight of the organism after 28 days of exposure, and Cu accumulation at day 28 in surviving organisms. This study is contributing to the overall understanding of DOM source quality in mitigating against long term Cu exposure.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 DOM Sources and Hyalella azteca Culture

DOM source collection and characterization as well as the culture methods for *Hyalella azteca* are described in the companion study (Chapter 2: optical characterization, binding capacity and acute toxicity mitigation). Culture and testing was in an artificial medium made with 0.1 mM CaCl₂, 0.1 mM NaHCO₃, 0.025 mM MgSO₄, and 0.005 mM KCl supplemented with 1 μ M NaBr (Borgmann et al., 1996). The pH of the culture medium was 7.2 ± 0.1, hardness of 13 mg CaCO₃/L and the temperature was 21°C.

3.2.3 Chronic Toxicity Tests

Chronic toxicity tests (28 days) followed the Environment Canada standard staticrenewal method for 14-day water only exposures (Environment Canada 2013). Neonates (2-9 days old) were exposed to six Cu concentrations (ranging from $0.0315 - 1.0 \mu$ M) for the four sources of DOM (DL, WR1, WR2, WR3; nominal concentration of 7 mg DOC/L) and a Cu-only test was also completed (no added DOM). All chronic tests had controls (no added Cu or DOM) in triplicate as well as a DOM control (7 mg DOC/L with no added Cu) also done in triplicate (except for the DL chronic, which was done in duplicate due to the limited amount of concentrate available) to verify organism health for the duration of the test.

Static renewal chronic tests were carried out in 400 mL polypropylene beakers (10 *Hyalella* per beaker), with 250 mL of test solution. Test solutions sufficient for the duration of the exposure (10 L) were prepared for each concentration in acid-washed carboys at least 24 h prior to test initiation to allow for Cu-DOM equilibration to occur (Kim et al., 1999). A 5x5 cm piece of gauze was also equilibrated with the test solution in a separate beaker and then added to the exposure beaker upon test initiation (Neumann et al., 1999). Each exposure beaker was fed 5 mg ground Tetramin flakes three times per week (Monday, Wednesday, Friday) following renewal of the exposure medium (100%). At each water renewal, survival was recorded. The pH of test solutions were monitored weekly and were maintained at 7.2 \pm 0.1 and temperature was 21°C \pm 2°C.

3.2.4 Cu and DOC Analysis

Throughout each 28 day test samples (weekly) were collected from the stock test solution carboys and from each of the exposure beakers just prior to test solution renewal. For Cu analysis both unfiltered and 0.45 μ m filtered (Acrodisc HT tuffryn membranes, Pall Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI) samples (10 mls) were collected for total and dissolved (respectively). These samples were acidified with a 1% volume of 16N HNO₃ (Trace Metal Grade, Fisher Scientific,

Nepean, ON). For DOC measurement, 30 mls of test solution were filtered (0.45 μ m as above) and then stored at 4°C.

Cu concentrations were measured using graphite furnace (GF) atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS: SpectAA-880 with GTA 100, Varian Inc, Palo Alto, CA). Reference material (SRM 1643e, NIST Gaithersburg MD) was used to verify GF-AAS measurements. DOC was measured as non-purgable organic carbon (NPOC) on carbon-free air purged samples that had not been acidified and this was completed using a total organic carbon (TOC) analyzer (Shimadzu TOC- $L_{CPH/CPN}$, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto Japan). A potassium hydrogen phthalate (Mandel Scientific, Guelph ON) reference solution for total carbon (5 and 10 mg C/L made from 1000 mg C/L stock solution) was used to verify measurements. From the 570 samples for Cu analysis per test, a subset (n=85 per test) were selectively chosen for characterization of Ca and Mg and this was done by AAS. Selection of the subset was done to ensure that samples from each concentration within a test were measured for each week of exposure.

3.2.5 Tissue Digestion

After 28 d of exposure, surviving amphipods were removed from exposure solutions and were transferred into a beaker of deionized water (18 mohm, Milli Q A-10, Millipore Corporation, Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) for a period of 6 h to allow for gut clearance (Neumann et al., 1999). After the gut clearance, *Hyalella* were transferred onto a Kim wipe and allowed to air dry for five minutes to remove excess moisture. Individual organisms were then transferred to 0.6 ml micro-centrifuge tubes and dried for 48h at 80°C. Following the drying period *Hyalella* were weighed to the nearest μ g (SE2 Ultra Micro Balance Sartorius

Mechantronics Corp., Bohemia, NY, USA). Individual organisms were then digested following the methods described by Neumann et al (1999). In brief, *Hyalella* were digested in 25 μ L of HNO₃ for 6 days, followed by 20 μ L of 30% H₂O₂ (Sigma-Aldrich Inc., Mississauga ON) for 24h after which the final volume was brought to 250 μ L using deionized water (Neumann et al., 1999). Whole body Cu accumulation in each organism was measured by GF-AAS after appropriate dilution of digests.

3.2.6 Calculations and Statistical Analyses

Lethal concentrations at 50% (LC50) were calculated with survival data and measured dissolved Cu concentrations using the trimmed Spearman-Karber method (Hamilton et al., 1977) within the software program CETIS (Comprehensive Environmental Toxicity Information System, Tidepool Software, 2005). Differences across tests between LC50s were considered to be significant when 95% confidence intervals did not overlap (Gillis et al., 2010). If 95% confidence intervals did overlap, the Litchfield and Wilcoxon statistical test was used to determine if there were any significant differences (Environment Canada, 2005). Effect concentrations for growth (dry weight) at 20% and 50% (EC20, EC50) were calculated using Non-linear Regression analysis within CETIS. The dry weight of organisms at day 28 was represented as a % of the DOM-control and the mean was calculated on a per-replicate basis (n=3). The biomass mean (sum of dry weight based on survival) was also calculated on a perreplicate basis (n=3) and was represented \pm standard deviation. Growth and accumulation differences at day 28 were determined to be significant (p<0.05) within a test compared to the DOM control using a one-way ANOVA followed by the Fisher LSD test within SigmaPlot[™] Chronic toxicity data (survival and dry weight) were correlated to the optical and (ver.11). chemical characterization measurements (Chapter 2, see Table 2.2, 2.3, 2.4). Correlation coefficients (r) were determined by the Pearson product moment method (n=4) and were considered to be significant when p<0.05.

3.2.7 Modelling

The Biotic Ligand Model (ver. 2.2.3; HydroQual Inc., New Jersey, USA) was used with measured water chemistry parameters (DOC, Ca, Mg) to generate chronic toxicity predictions. A *Hyalella*-specific model was developed (See Chapter 2; *2.2.8 Modelling*) based on the existing *Daphnia pulex* files within the BLM program. In each modelling scenario the LA50 input was adjusted to achieve the best fit between the predicted and measured LC50s (Clifford and McGeer, 2009). To adjust the model for DOM source variability, two parameters were altered: %humic acid (HA) content (based on results obtained from PARAFAC analysis) and the active DOC concentration. The active DOC concentration parameter was adjusted using the quality factor (QF) method that incorporates SAC₃₄₀ as a surrogate measure of the DOC concentration (see Chapter 2, Schwartz et al., 2004). In the QF equation (See Chapter 2), the 0.31 constant was altered to 0.328 in order to weight different DOM quality without altering the LA50 within the model.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Water Chemistry

Water chemistry parameters were measured throughout chronic toxicity tests to determine if any changes occurred over the 28 day exposure (Table 3.1, Table 3.2). On average, dissolved Cu concentrations were calculated to be $100 \pm 7\%$ of total Cu (n=1260). Furthermore, Cu concentrations at day 28 were calculated to be $96 \pm 2\%$ (n=210) of day 0 concentrations. Cu,

DOM, and hardness cation (Ca and Mg) concentrations were consistent among replicates and across exposure series (Table 3.1, 3.2). DOC concentrations were measured at 7 mg C/L and this was expected given the addition of 5 mg C/L against the average background levels of DOC which were measured at 2.1 ± 0.1 mg C/L (n=180, see Table 3.1).

3.3.2 Chronic Mortality

The LC50 values for the Cu-only test (with no added DOM) were 0.089 μ M and 0.066 μ M for days 14 and 28 respectively (Fig. 3.1). At day 14, all sources of DOM (WR1, WR2, WR3, and DL; added at 7 mg C/L) provided a significant level of protection against chronic Cu toxicity, with LC50 values ranging from 0.44 – 0.83 μ M (Fig.3.1). However, at day 28 only WR1 and WR3 DOM offered significant protection (Fig. 3.1). At day 14, WR1 and WR3 DOM were significantly more protective against chronic Cu toxicity compared to day 28, whereas there was no significant difference observed between day 14 and 28 for WR2 and DL DOM.

3.3.3 Growth Effects

In all tests, day 28 dry weight decreased with increased Cu concentration exposure (Fig. 3.2) and there was no significant difference between control solutions (no-DOM and added-DOM) with no added Cu (Table 3.2). The most dramatic reduction in dry weight and biomass occurred in the Cu only exposure (Fig. 3.2). In tests with added DOM from the WR1 and WR3 sites, the effects of Cu on growth were less than it was for the DL and WR2 sources (Fig 3.2). When WR1 and WR3 DOM were present, there was a significant amount of growth compared to the day 0 pre-test controls across all Cu concentrations. However, when WR2 and DL DOM or no DOM (i.e. Cu only exposure) was present, growth did not significantly increase compared to the pre-test dry weight at the highest Cu exposure of $1.0 \,\mu$ M (Table 3.2). Increased growth was

observed in the test series with WR2 where there was a significant increase (150%) compared to the unexposed DOM control dry weight at 0.0315 μ M Cu (Fig 3.2A, Table 3.2). A significant trend of increased growth (134% and 128% at exposure concentrations of 0.063 and 0.125 μ M, respectively) compared to the DOM control dry weight was also observed with WR3 DOM (Table 3.2, Fig. 3.2A).

Biomass decreased as Cu concentration increased but DOM mitigated the effect (Fig. 3.2B). The largest protective effect of DOM on biomass was observed when WR3 DOM was present. Biomass was significantly reduced at exposure concentrations of 0.25 μ M Cu and higher compared to the DOM control (Fig. 3.2B). Only at the highest exposure concentration (1.0 μ M) the biomass was not significantly different from the Pre-test Day 0 biomass. On the other hand, when WR2 DOM was present biomass was significantly reduced compared to DOM control at all concentrations from 0.063 μ M and beyond (Fig. 3.2B). In this same range of concentrations (0.063-1.0 μ M) when WR2 DOM was present, the biomass did not significantly differ from the Pre-test Day 0 biomass. Intermediate mitigation of the impacts of Cu on biomass were observed for WR1 and DL DOM.

Protective growth effects were seen when DOM was added to chronic toxicity tests (Fig. 3.3). With no added DOM, the EC50 and EC20 were 0.0085 ± 0.0071 and $0.0058 \pm 0.0018 \mu$ M Cu, respectively. The EC50s for these tests with added DOM ranged from $0.061 \pm 0.042 \mu$ M Cu (WR2) to $0.79 \pm 0.2 \mu$ M Cu (WR3), with all sources being significantly protective compared to the Cu only exposure and the WR3 EC50 being significantly higher than all other sources of DOM (Fig. 3.3). With DOM present, the EC20s varied between $0.036 \pm 0.006 \mu$ M Cu (WR2) and $0.25 \pm 0.18 \mu$ M Cu (WR3), with all sources of DOM providing a significant protective effect compared to the Cu exposure (Fig. 3.3). The EC20 was significantly lower when WR2 DOM

was present compared to the other sources of DOM. It was also observed that there were significant differences between the EC20 and EC50 within the WR3 DOM exposure (EC50 was 3-fold higher than the EC20) and the DL DOM chronic study (EC50 was 4.5-fold higher than the EC20).

3.3.4 Cu Bioaccumulation

Cu bioaccumulation in surviving organisms after 28 d of exposure showed that there were no significant differences between unexposed controls and exposed amphipods within tests. There were no significant differences in whole body Cu burden across all exposures up to and including the highest, 1 μ M (Table 3.2).

3.3.5 Correlations with DOM Characteristics

Correlation analysis (using Pearson Product Moment) among the chronic toxicity parameters (survival and growth) and the measured chemical and optical characteristics determined in Chapter 2 showed that there were two significant relationships (Table 3.3). A significant correlation was found between the EC20 and the K_m (r = -0.98, p<0.05) determined from 6h bioaccumulation studies. There was also a significant correlation found between the Day 28 LC50 and SAC₃₄₀ values (r = 0.96, p<0.05).

3.3.6 Modelling

Without any adjustments, the BLM generated a single chronic toxicity prediction but variable toxicities were measured (Fig. 3.4A). When the specific %HA determined by PARAFAC was incorporated into the BLM, chronic toxicity predictions were improved for three of the DOM samples (WR1, WR2, WR3; Fig. 3.4B). The predicted and measured LC50 for the

81

DL sample was not consistent. Chronic toxicity predictions were significantly improved when the SAC_{340} was utilized as an alternate measure of the DOC concentrations (Fig. 3.4C).

3.4 Discussion

This study demonstrates that *Hyalella azteca* are sensitive to chronic Cu exposure and that toxicity was mitigated, to varying degrees, by DOM (Fig. 3.1). The protection afforded by DOM varied with source and was associated with survival and growth (Fig. 3.2, 3.3) but not Cu bioaccumulation (Table 3.2). The optical/chemical characteristics discussed in Chapter 2 did not provide as clear of an explanation for DOM source variability that was found for the acute toxicity data.

Numerous studies assessing chronic Cu toxicity to *Hyalella* have been conducted (Morris et al., 2003; Borgmann and Norwood, 1995; Borgmann et al., 1993). In this study, it was observed that *Hyalella* were sensitive to chronic Cu exposure. The LC50 was approximately 10-fold lower in chronic tests (0.07 μ M) compared to acute exposures (0.7 μ M). According to the freshwater Cu guidelines set forth by the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME, 1999), *Hyalella* appear to be sensitive since the chronic LC50 (0.07 μ M) is just above the existing guidelines of 0.03–0.06 μ M Cu. Borgmann et al (1993) found *H. azteca* to be less sensitive to chronic Cu toxicity than we observed, with a 10 week LC50 of approximately 0.5 μ M, a 7-fold difference from the chronic Cu exposure LC50 determined in this study. However the Borgmann et al (1993) study was conducted in much harder water (120 mg CaCO₃/L) than this study (13 mg CaCO₃/L) and this may explain the difference. The Borgmann et al (1993) study also used a different source of *Hyalella* than we did (Valens Conservation Area near Cambridge ON vs Hannah Lake near Sudbury ON) and it is unknown what influence this may

have. This study appears to be the only study within the literature of chronic Cu toxicity to *Hyalella* in such soft water.

The chronic toxicity of Cu, similar to our findings for acute toxicity (Chapter 2), varied with DOM source. Several studies (e.g. De Schamphelaere and Janssen, 2004a; McGeer et al., 2002; Garvey et al., 1991) have illustrated that DOM provides a protective effect against chronic Cu toxicity to a variety of organisms (rainbow trout, Daphnia magna, and the green algae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, respectively), however most studies focus on the presence (at different DOC concentrations) or absence of DOM rather than DOM source variability. De Schamphelaere and Janssen (2004a) tested the influence of three different DOM sources on the chronic toxicity of Cu to D. magna and found no significant difference between the sources in providing a protective effect. However, that study only compared a few sources within an experimental design that included the influence of DOC concentration, pH and hardness in addition to source (De Schamphelaere and Janssen 2004a). It is also noteworthy that the authors highlight that in a different study with the same sources (De Schamphelaere et al 2003) there were significant differences in both protective capacity (to *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*) and complexation capacity among sources. De Schamphelaere and Janssen (2004a) highlighted the need for additional data on how DOM source influences responses to chronic Cu exposure.

This study demonstrates that not all DOM sources offer significant protection against the chronic effects of Cu but the results were equivocal. Based on survival at d 14, all sources provided significant protection however at 28 d the pattern was different. The LC50 values derived from survival over 28 d showed that WR1 and WR3 sites provided significant protection against Cu toxicity while WR2 and DL did not (Fig. 3.1). The DOM from the sites that were protective (WR1 and WR3) also had the highest binding capacity and affinity for Cu²⁺ and the

lowest affinity values (Chapter 2, Table 2.3). The WR1 source (reference) has been shown to offer strong protection against acute Cu toxicity and was highly coloured but the WR3 source (logged site) was intermediate in these measures. A mechanistic rationale for the differences among DOM sources could not be derived but perhaps the protective DOMs were better able to bind free Cu and make it less available for toxic action.

The protective effects of the WR1 and WR3 DOM on survival were also observed for growth over the exposure. Dry weight on d 28 were higher when DOM from the logging site (WR3) was present, followed closely by the undisturbed site (WR1). DOM from the fire (WR2) and smelter damaged (DL) sites were less protective (dry weights were less) and this was consistent with the pattern of finding for acute toxicity. All of the DOM sources provided a significant protection compared to the Cu only (no DOM) exposed organisms.

De Schamphelaere and Janssen (2004b) completed a study assessing chronic dietary Cu exposure on the growth and reproduction of *D. magna* in the presence of 10 mg DOC/L. It was found that in waterborne Cu exposures, dry weight decreased as Cu concentrations increased, although it was not considered to be significant. However, in dietary Cu exposures, dry weight was found to increase with increasing Cu concentrations, up to 75% compared to control organisms (De Schamphelaere and Janssen, 2004b). In sediment toxicity tests, it has been found that growth is a more sensitive indicator than survival in chronic Cu experiments (Kubitz et al., 1995). In contrast, Borgmann et al (1993) observed no significant effect of chronic (10 week) Cu exposure on growth. In our study, waterborne Cu exposure led to significant reductions in dry weight at high Cu concentrations for all exposures but increased growth was observed with the DOM from the WR2 source at low Cu exposure concentrations. It is interesting that this increased growth was seen when WR2 DOM (fire site) was present because although this DOM

84

provided significant growth protection compared to the Cu only exposure, it was significantly lower than the other three DOMs tested. It is clear that DOM quality is negatively impacted by this type of harsh landscape disturbance (i.e. fire) shown by reduced toxicity mitigation potential but there are also sub-lethal consequences such as reduced growth. From this study, it is evident that there are differences in DOM quality, illustrated by chronic Cu exposures, and there appears to be biological concerns beyond mortality that warrants further investigation.

In accordance with the theory of the BLM, acute toxicity is related to accumulation and this was observed for short term (6 h) bioaccumulation in Chapter 2, however, chronic bioaccumulation was not related to chronic toxicity. There were no significant differences found for Cu body burdens among control and exposed *Hyalella* regardless of the Cu exposure or the presence of DOM (Fig. 3.4). Similar to the results of Borgmann et al (1993) and Borgmann and Norwood (1995), it appears that Cu is regulated during chronic exposure. The Cu regulation observed in *Hyalella* azteca is different from what is seen in other types of amphipods (e.g. Gammarus zaddachi, Echinogammarus pirloti) where either no regulation or very little regulation occurs (Amiard et al., 1987; Rainbow and White, 1989). Our measured Cu accumulation levels are supported by the accumulation results from the Borgmann et al (1993) study because we observed comparable chronic Cu bioaccumulation values. For example, in our study, on average, control organisms had whole body concentrations of $89 \pm 18 \ \mu g \ Cu/g \ dry$ weight and in the Borgmann (1993) study it was noted that control organisms had burdens of 79 \pm 20 µg Cu/g dry weight, with no significant differences measured in organisms from any Cu exposure concentrations.

Unlike short-term (e.g. 6h), chronic Cu accumulation is not an effective indicator of toxic effects because of the regulation that occurs during long-term exposure (Borgmann et al., 1993).

Cu accumulation within *H. azteca* has been found to peak after one week of exposure and gradually decrease to approximately similar levels of control organisms because of internal Cu regulating mechanisms (Borgmann and Norwood, 1995). We found that Cu regulation occurred by the end of our chronic tests (4 weeks) which agrees with the 4-6 week timeline outlined by Borgmann and Norwood (1995) for regulation to occur. Importantly, the regulation of Cu is not associated with the weekly molt that *Hyalella* undergo (Borgmann and Norwood, 1995). It is worth noting that the presence of a modifying factor (DOM) did not impact the *Hyalella* Cu regulation mechanisms.

Based on the Pearson Product Moment (see Chapter 2), there were only two significant (p<0.05) correlations among chronic toxicity parameters and the optical/chemical characterizations that were completed in Chapter 2 (Table 2.3). The chronic EC20 values were found to negatively correlate with the K_m (binding affinity) calculated from the 6h Cu bioaccumulation studies (see Chapter 2). The relationship between the 6h K_m and the chronic EC20 may act as a useful indicator of growth effects from chronic exposure to Cu and DOM exposures. A positive relationship was found between the Day 28 LC50 and SAC₃₄₀ (see Chapter 2). Similar to the acute toxicity data (Chapter 2), the SAC₃₄₀ value (i.e. the colour of the DOM) is the best indicator of chronic toxicity. This relationship between SAC₃₄₀ and DOM protective ability has been shown for other organisms as well such as rainbow trout (Schwartz et al., 2004), daphnia (Al-Reasi et al., 2012; De Schamphelaere et al., 2004), and fathead minnow (Ryan et al., 2004), however these studies have all focused on acute exposures. This study shows that the functional groups on the aromatic rings, which strongly bind Cu (Carbonaro et al., 2011), appear to be the most important factor in how protective a DOM source is because it is related to the mitigation of both acute and chronic toxicity of Cu to Hyalella.

Adjusting our *Hyalella*-specific BLM allowed us to improve toxicity predictions by taking into account DOM source quality (Fig. 3.4). Within the literature there are few chronic Cu BLMs for invertebrates however a chronic BLM has been developed for *Ceriodaphnia dubia* (Schwartz and Vigneault, 2007) as well as a field-validated BLM for Daphnia magna (De Schamphelaere and Janssen, 2009). In our study, we utilized the acute Cu BLM to generate chronic toxicity predictions. To adjust the model for DOM source quality we first altered the %HA input by incorporating the specific amount of humic-like substance for each source determined by PARAFAC analysis (Fig. 3.4B). Chronic toxicity predictions were improved when %HA was altered, and this was similar to the study done by Al-Reasi et al (2012) who found that including %HA adjustments within the BLM greatly improved acute Cu toxicity predictions. In general, adjusting the humic acid content was an effective method, but the Daisy Lake DOM sample was not well predicted. As a result of a high measured humic acid content the DL DOM was predicted to be highly protective, however this was not the case. It appears that at this damaged site, there is an entity within the DOM that fluoresces similar to humic acid but does not contribute to toxicity mitigation. The other method to adjust the model for DOM source quality was to utilize the quality factor described by Schwartz et al (2004; Fig. 3.4C). The QF is an adjustment that is based on SAC₃₄₀ values and it becomes an altered input for the DOC concentration within the model. Adjusting the model to include the QF greatly improved chronic toxicity predictions; all samples were accurately predicted. By incorporating optical characteristics into the model, we were able to extend the acute BLM to generate accurate chronic toxicity predictions that accounted for DOM source variability.

3.5 Conclusions

In summary, this study demonstrates that DOM source quality is negatively impacted by ecosystem disturbance. Chronic Cu toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* varied based on DOM source, with the undisturbed and logged sources offering more protection than the more disturbed sites (smelter and fire impacted). The differences in chronic mortality were associated with dry weight patterns at day 28 but not with Cu bioaccumulation at 28 d because during chronic exposure, *Hyalella* appear to regulate Cu. Similar to the companion study (Chapter 2: optical characterization, binding capacity and acute toxicity mitigation), the SAC₃₄₀ values of DOM sources was found to correlate with reductions in chronic Cu toxicity. An improved understanding of Cu-DOM interactions in chronic toxicity studies would contribute towards long term ecosystem remediation efforts.

3.6 Tables

Table 3.1 – Measured water chemistry parameters for 28 day chronic toxicity tests. Parameters for unexposed (control with no Cu or DOM and control with DOM but no Cu) *Hyalella* are also included. Ca, Mg, and pH represented as mean \pm SEM (n=85). Measured exposure concentrations are given as total (unfiltered) and dissolved (0.45 μ M) Cu and represented as mean \pm SEM (n=36). Measured DOC concentrations are given as mean \pm SEM (n=36).

Exposure Series	Nominal Cu (nM)	Measu (r	ured Cu M)	Measured DOC (mg C/L)	Ca (µM)	Mg (μM)	рН	
		Total	Dissolved					
	0 (Ctrl)	4.0 ± 1.0	4.2 ± 1.0	2.1 ± 0.03		26.4 ± 2.1	7.3 ± 0.02	
	8	8.0 ± 1.6	9.2 ± 3.5	1.9 ± 0.07				
Cu only	16	14 ± 1.8	13.0 ± 1.5	2.1 ± 0.2	818 + 80			
	32	29 ± 2.4	28.0 ± 2.6	2.1 ± 0.08	04.0 ± 0.0			
	63	60 ± 4.0	55.0 ± 3.4	± 3.4 1.9 ± 0.2				
	125	120 ± 6.2	110.0 ± 6.6	2.1 ± 0.06]			
	0 (Ctrl)	3.7 ± 1.5	2.5 ± 1.3	2.2 ± 0.04				
	0 (DOM Ctrl)	4.1 ± 1.0	4.5 ± 1.0	7.3 ± 0.09				
	32	39 ± 1.2	38.0 ± 1.1	7.3 ± 0.06				
WD1	63	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		7.3 ± 0.09	827 ± 4.1	260 ± 1.2	7.2 ± 0.02	
VV K1	125			62.7 ± 4.1	20.9 ± 1.3	7.5 ± 0.05		
	250	210 ± 7.1	200.0 ± 6.5	7.2 ± 0.08				
	500	460 ± 15	430.0 ± 13.0	7.3 ± 0.07				
	1000	920 ± 28	910.0 \pm 32.0 7.2 \pm 0.06					
WR2	0 (Ctrl)	5.1 ± 1.6	4.8 ± 1.6	2.2 ± 0.08				
	0 (DOM Ctrl)	(trl) 7.9 ± 1.9 6.5 ± 1.5 6.6 ± 0.06		6.6 ± 0.06	81.9 ± 2.9	28.5 ± 1.9	7.3 ± 0.03	
	31.5	24 ± 2.6	23 ± 2.4	7.1 ± 0.09				

	63	63 ± 2.9	62 ± 3.4	7.0 ± 0.1			
	125	120 ± 3.2	120 ± 3.4	7.1 ± 0.09			
	250	260 ± 8.6	250 ± 7.3	7.1 ± 0.2			
	500	490 ± 14	470 ± 14	7.0 ± 0.2			
	1000	890 ± 21	890 ± 24	7.1 ± 0.3			
	0 (Ctrl)	5.1 ± 1.2	4.9 ± 1.3	2.0 ± 0.06			
	0 (DOM Ctrl)	6.5 ± 1.5	6.0 ± 1.5	7.2 ± 0.05		27.7 + 1.4	7.3 ± 0.03
	32	33 ± 2.2	32 ± 2.4	7.2 ± 0.2			
WR3	63	63 ± 2.3	61 ± 2.4	7.3 ± 0.1	076170		
	125	$120 \pm 2.7 \qquad 120 \pm 2.5 \qquad 7.2 \pm 0.1 \qquad 82.0 \pm 120 \pm 120$		02.0 ± 2.0	27.7 ± 1.4	7.3 ± 0.03	
	250	240 ± 7.3	$240 \pm 7.3 \qquad 230 \pm 7.0 \qquad 7.3 \pm$				
	500	480 ± 11	460 ± 11	7.2 ± 0.2			
	1000	960 ± 21	920 ± 22	7.3 ± 0.2			
	0 (Ctrl)	6.3 ± 1.5	5.9 ± 1.2	1.9 ± 0.2	-	28.9 + 1.4	7.2 + 0.02
DL	0 (DOM Ctrl)	6.4 ± 1.4	6.5 ± 1.2	7.3 ± 0.2			
	32	37 ± 1.4	35 ± 1.6	7.0 ± 0.3			
	63	57 ± 2.8	53 ± 2.3	7.1 ± 0.2	<u>812+25</u>		
	125	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		7.3 ± 0.3	01.3 ± 3.3	28.8 ± 1.4	7.3 ± 0.03
	250			7.2 ± 0.2			
	500	530 ± 22	530 ± 21	7.3 ± 0.1			
	1000	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		7.3 ± 0.2			

Table 3.2 – Influence of DOM and chronic Cu exposure on survival, mean dry weight, and Cu body burden on Day 28 for *Hyalella azteca*. Dry weight and body burden and dry weight are given as mean \pm SEM (n=4-30) for surviving adults. Dry weight and Cu body burden is also shown for 2-9 d old *Hyalella* sampled prior to test initiation (pre-test) and * indicates significant differences from controls with added DOM (DOM Ctrl) while † indicates mean dry weights that are not significantly different from 'pre-test' within a test (p<0.05).

Fynosure	Nominal Cu	Survival	Dry Weight	Cu body	
Series	(nM)		(mg)	burden	n
Beries		(70)	(iiig)	$(\mu g/g dry wt)$	
	Pre-test	n/a	0.016 ± 0.0015	98.07 ± 22.85	24
	0 (Ctrl)	97	0.11 ± 0.0065	87.96 ± 31.45	29
	8	70	0.049 ± 0.0059	104.24 ± 24.27	21
Cu only	16	77	0.036 ± 0.0041	111.39 ± 24.19	23
	32	60	0.038 ± 0.0049	110.05 ± 26.75	18
	63.0	30	0.039 ± 0.0041	112.62 ± 19.68	9
	125	30	0.033 ± 0.0051 †	146.63 ± 15.6	9
	Pre-test	n/a	0.014 ± 0.0031	94.94 ± 8.94	24
	0 (Ctrl)	100	0.10 ± 0.0059	99.59 ± 14.28	30
	0 (DOM Ctrl)	97	0.097 ± 0.0071	96.99 ± 9.34	29
	32	93	$0.068 \pm 0.0074 *$	118.34 ± 13.81	28
WR1	63	77	0.097 ± 0.010	120.83 ± 12.01	23
	125	70	0.085 ± 0.0086	123.39 ± 11.72	21
	250	67	$0.055 \pm 0.0087 *$	137.96 ± 18.21	20
	500	63	$0.048 \pm 0.0042*$	134.50 ± 11.23	19
	1000	13	$0.040 \pm 0.010 *$	163.15 ± 35.97	4
	Pre-test	n/a	0.012 ± 0.001	86.39 ± 6.56	16
	0 (Ctrl)	100	0.10 ± 0.011	80.42 ± 16.75	30
	0 (DOM Ctrl)	97	$0.088 \pm .0083$	93.78 ± 15.32	29
	32	73	$0.14 \pm 0.017 *$	89.52 ± 13.66	22
WR2	63	67	$0.059 \pm 0.0042*$	114.60 ± 15.72	20
	125	57	0.047 ± 0.0055	109.86 ± 11.61	17
	250	53	$0.043 \pm 0.0035*$	200.25 ± 51.76	16
	500	47	$0.045 \pm 0.0053*$	131.66 ± 11.26	14
	1000	13	$0.028 \pm 0.0064*$ †	119.83 ± 17.90	3
WR3	Pre-test	n/a	0.013 ± 0.0002	106.85 ± 13.39	15
	0 (Ctrl)	100	0.10 ± 0.0063	93.07 ± 14.52	30
	0 (DOM Ctrl)	100	0.087 ± 0.0081	119.16 ± 16.70	30
	32	87	0.079 ± 0.0069	118.34 ± 17.10	26
	63	77	$0.12 \pm 0.014*$	91.95 ± 16.23	23

	125	70	$0.11 \pm 0.012*$	118.49 ± 14.18	21
	250	63	0.083 ± 0.0086	129.62 ± 17.31	19
	500	53	0.074 ± 0.0093	118.78 ± 18.35	16
	1000	17	$0.045 \pm 0.0065*$	128.45 ± 27.92	5
	Pre-test	n/a	0.013 ± 0.0003	108.02 ± 11.14	13
	0 (Ctrl)	100	0.11 ± 0.0057	88.63 ± 14.21	20
	0 (DOM Ctrl)	100	0.11 ± 0.013	109.18 ± 9.30	10
	32	80	$0.081 \pm 0.0079 *$	88.01 ± 19.85	16
DL	63	65	0.093 ± 0.0071	113.31 ± 18.12	13
	125	55	$0.072 \pm 0.015 *$	105.83 ± 9.54	11
	250	50	$0.058 \pm 0.0083*$	104.01 ± 12.5	10
	500	45	$0.043 \pm 0.0055*$	110.46 ± 10.12	9
	1000	20	0.020 ± 0.0016 *†	152.02 ± 43.46	1

Table 3.3 – Correlation coefficients (r) for measured DOM variables (Table 2.2, 2.3, 2.4) with measured chronic toxicity (survival and growth) values. Correlations calculated with Pearson Product Moment and * indicates significance (p<0.05), n=4.

Correlation Coefficients											
	SAC ₃₄₀	FI	HA	FA	Tyr	Trp	B _{max} (ISE)	K _m (ISE)	Vmax (6h)	Km (6h)	96h LC50
Day 14 LC50 (µM Cu)	0.65	(-)0.54	0.85	(-)0.76	(-)0.87	(-)0.94	0.58	(-)0.93	(-)0.86	(-)0.92	0.60
Day 28 LC50 (µM Cu)	0.96*	(-)0.92	0.38	(-)0.21	(-)0.66	(-)0.67	0.92	(-)0.89	(-)0.70	(-)0.80	0.90
ЕС20 (µM Cu)	0.51	(-)0.42	0.54	(-)0.50	(-)0.91	(-)0.69	0.40	(-)0.66	(-)0.44	(-)0.98*	0.36
ЕС50 (µM Cu)	0.18	(-)0.07	0.61	(-)0.65	(-)0.71	(-)0.70	0.06	(-)0.46	(-)0.30	(-)0.89	0.43

3.7 Figures



Figure 3.1 – Influence of DOM on chronic Cu toxicity to *Hyalella azteca*. DOM was added at a nominal concentration of 7 mg C/L. LC50 values for Day 14 (grey bars) and Day 28 (black bars) were calculated based on measured dissolved Cu concentrations and are represented with error bar (95% confidence interval). * indicates significant difference from the Cu only exposure at that day.



Figure 3.2 – Effect of DOM source on *Hyalella* growth. **A)** Day 28 dry weight (mean % of control \pm SD on a per-replicate basis; n=3, except for DL test, n=2). **B)** Day 28 biomass (mean biomass \pm SD on a per-replicate basis; n=3 except for DL test, n=2). Cu exposure based on nominal Cu concentrations (0-1µM). DOM sources added at a nominal concentration of 7 mg C/L.



Figure 3.3 – Influence of DOM source variability on growth effect concentration (EC) in *Hyalella*. DOM sources added at nominal concentration of 7 mg C/L. EC20 and EC50 values were calculated based on day 28 survival and dry weight. Black bars represent EC20 and grey bars represent EC50, all bars are represented with 95% confidence intervals. Letters represent significant difference from the Cu only exposure. Capital letters indicate significant difference between EC20 and EC50 for a given exposure type.



Measured 28 d LC50 (µM Cu)

Figure 3.4 – Comparison of measured and BLM predictions of Cu toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* with 7 mg DOC/L from each of 4 different sources. Symbols show the undisturbed site (WR1, squares), Daisy Lake (Sudbury region, inverted triangle) as well as previously burned and logged sites (WR1 and 2, diamond and triangle respectively). The solid line shows one-to-one predictions and panels show: **A**) unmodified BLM predictions; **B**) when the %HA derived from PARAFAC analysis of EEMS data were used to adjust the model; **C**) when SAC₃₄₀ based adjustments to DOC concentrations were applied. In each modelling scenario the LA50 input is given (nmol Cu/g wet weight) and these values were adjusted to obtain the best overall fit between measured and predicted LC50s.

3.8 References

- Al-Reasi HA, Smith DS, Wood CM. 2012. Evaluating the ameliorative effect of natural dissolved organic matter (DOM) quality on copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*: improving the BLM. Ecotoxicology. 21: 524-537.
- Al-Reasi HA, Wood CM, Smith DS. 2011. Physiochemical and spectroscopic properties of natural organic matter (NOM) from various sources and implications for effects on metal toxicity to aquatic biota. Aquatic Toxicology. 103: 179-190.
- Amiard JC, Amiard-Triquet C, Berthet B, Metayer C. 1987. Comparative study of the patterns of bioaccumulation of essential (Cu, Zn) and non-essential (Cd, Pb) trace metals in various estuarine and coastal organisms. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 106: 73-89.
- Babin-Fenske JJ, Merrit TJS, Gunn JM, Walsh T, Lesbarreres D. 2012. Phylogenetic analysis of *Hyalella* colonization in lakes recovering from acidification and metal contamination. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 90: 624-629.
- Borgmann U, Schroeder JE, Golding LA, Dixon DG. 2010. Models of cadmium accumulation and toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* during 7- and 28-day exposures. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal. 16: 560-587.
- Borgmann U. 1998. A mechanistic model of copper accumulation in *Hyalella azteca*. Science of the Total Environment. 219: 137-145.

Borgmann U. 1996. Systematic analysis of aqueous ion requirements of Hyalella azteca: a

standard artificial medium including the essential bromide ion. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology. 30: 356-363.

- Borgmann U, Norwood WP. 1995. Kinetics of excess (above background) copper and zinc in *Hyalella azteca* and their relationship to chronic toxicity. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 52: 864-874.
- Borgmann U, Norwood WP, Clarke C. 1993. Accumulation, regulation, and toxicity of copper, zinc, lead, and mercury in *Hyalella azteca*. Hydrobiologia. 259: 79-89.
- Borgmann U, Munawar M. 1989. A new standardized sediment bioassay protocol using the amphipod *Hyalella azteca* (Saussure). Hydrobiologia. 188: 425-531.
- Carbonaro RF, Atalay YB, Di Toro DM. 2011. Linear free energy relationships for metal-ligand complexation: bidentate binding to negatively-charged oxygen donor atoms. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta. 75: 2499-2511.
- CCME (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment). 1999. Canadian water quality guidelines. Environment Canada, Ottawa.
- Clifford M, McGeer JC. 2009. Development of a biotic ligand model for the acute toxicity of zinc to *Daphnia pulex* in soft waters. Aquatic Toxicology. 91: 26-32.
- De Palma SGS, Arnold WR, McGeer JC, Dixon DG, Smith DS. 2011. Effect of dissolved organic matter and reduced sulphur concentration on copper bioavailability in coastal marine environments. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 26: 230-237.
- De Schamphelaere KAC, Janssen CR. 2009. Development and field validation of a biotic ligand model predicting chronic copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology

and Chemistry. 23: 1365-1375.

- De Schamphelaere KAC, Janssen CR. 2004a. Effects of dissolved organic carbon concentration and source, pH, and water hardness on chronic toxicity of copper to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 1115-1122.
- De Schamphelaere KAC, Janssen CR. 2004b. Effects of chronic dietary copper exposure on growth and reproduction of *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 2038-2047.
- De Schamphelaere KAC, Vasconcelos FM, Tack FMG, Allen HE, Janssen CR. 2004. Effect of dissolved organic matter source on acute copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 2348-1255.
- Di Toro DM, Allen HE, Bergman HL, Meyer JS, Paquin PR, Santore RC. 2001. Biotic ligand model of the acute toxicity of metals. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 2382-2396.
- Dixit AS, Dixit SS, Smol JP. 1996. Setting restoration goals for an acid and metal-contaminated lake: A paleolimnological study of Daisy Lake (Sudbury, Canada). Lake and Reservoir Management. 12: 323-330.
- Environment Canada. 2013. Biological test method: Test for survival of growth in sediment using the freshwater amphipod *Hyalella azteca* Second Edition. Ottawa Ontario: Environment Canada, Method Development and Applications Section. EPS 1/RM/33.
- Environment Canada. 2005. Guidance document on statistical methods for environmental toxicity tests. Ottawa Ontario: Environment Canada. EPS 1/RM/46.
- Erickson RJ, Benoit DA, Mattson VR, Nelson HP, Leonard EN. 1996. The effects of water chemistry on the toxicity of copper to fathead minnows. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 15: 181-193.
- Garvey JE, Owen HA, Winner RW. 1991. Toxicity of copper to the green alga, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Chlorophyceae), as affected by humic substances of terrestrial and freshwater origin. Aquatic Toxicology. 19: 89-96.
- Gheorghiu C, Smith DS, Al-Reasi HA, McGeer JC, Wilkie MP. 2010. Influence of natural organic matter (NOM) quality on Cu-gill binding in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquatic Toxicology. 97: 343-352.
- Gillis PL, McGeer JC, Mackie GL, Wilkie MP, Ackerman JD. 2010. The effect of natural dissolved organic carbon on the acute toxicity of copper to larval freshwater mussels (Glochidia). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 29: 2519-2528.
- Holbrook DR, Yen JH, Grizzard TJ. 2006. Characterizing natural organic material from the Occuquan watershed (Northern Virgina, US) using fluorescence spectroscopy and PARAFAC. Science of the Total Environment. 361: 249-266.
- Keller W, Carbone J, Gale P, Heneberry J, Malette M, Gunn J. 1998. Data report: Extensive monitoring of acidified lakes in the Sudbury area 1981 to 1997. Cooperative Freshwater Ecology Unit Rep., Laurentian University, Sudbury, Ontario, Canada, pp. 153.

- Kim SD, Ma H, Allen HE. 1999. Influence of dissolved organic matter on the toxicity of copper to *Ceriodaphnia dubia*: Effect of complexation kinetics. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 18: 2433-2437.
- Kramer KJM, Jak RG, Hanttum BV, Hooftman RN, Zwolsman JJG. 2004. Copper toxicity in relation to surface water-dissolved organic matter: Biological effects to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemsitry. 23: 2971-2980.
- Kreutzweiser DP, Muto A, Holmes S, Gunn J. 2010. Effects of upland clearcutting and riparian partial harvesting on leaf pack breakdown and aquatic invertebrates in boreal forest streams. Freshwater Biology. 55: 2238-2252.
- Kubitz JA, Lewek EC, Besser JM, Drake III JB, Giesy JP. 1995. Effects of coppercontaminated sediments on *Hyalella azteca*, *Daphnia magna*, and *Ceriodaphnia dubia*: Survival, growth, and enzyme inhibition. Archives of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 29: 97-103.
- Laurén DJ, McDonald DG. 1985. Effects of copper on branchial ionoregulation in the rainbow trout, *Saimo gairdneri* Richardson: Modulation by water hardness and pH. Journal of Comparative Physiology B. 155: 635-644.
- Lu Y, Allen HE. 2002. Characterization of copper complexation with natural dissolved organic matter (DOM) link to acidic moieties of DOM and competition by Ca and Mg. Water Research. 36: 5083-5101.
- McGeer JC, Szebedinszky C, McDonald DG, Wood CM. 2002. The role of dissolved organic carbon in moderating the bioavailability and toxicity of Cu to rainbow trout during

chronic waterborne exposure. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C. 133: 147-160.

- McKnight DM, Boyer EW, Westhoff PK, Doran PT, Kulbe T, Andersen DT. 2001. Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic matter and aromaticity. Limnology and Oceanography. 46: 38-48.
- McKnight DM, Aiken G. 1998. Sources and age of aquatic humus: p. 9-40 In Hessen, D.O. Travic L.J. (Eds) Aquatic humic substances: ecology and biochemistry. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- Morris JM, Collyard SA, Meyer JS. 2003. Effects of chronic copper exposure on the nutritional composition of *Hyalella azteca*. Aquatic Toxicology. 63: 197-206.
- Neumann PTM, Borgmann U, Norwood W. 1999. Effect of gut clearance on metal body concentrations in *Hyalella azteca*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 18: 976-984.
- Rainbow PS, White SL. 1989. Comparative strategies of heavy metal accumulation by crustaceans: zinc, copper, and cadmium in a decapod, and amphipod, and a barnacle. Hydrobiologia. 174: 245.262.
- Richards JG, Curtis JP, Burnison KB, Playle RC. 2001. Effects of natural organic matter source on reducing metal toxicity to rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) and on metal binding to their gills. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 1159-1166.
- Ryan AC, Van Genderen EJ, Tomasso JR, Klaine SJ. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on copper toxicity to larval fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*):

implications for the biotic ligand model. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry.23: 1567-1574.

- Roman YE, De Schamphelaere KAC, Nguyen LTH, Janssen CR. 2007. Chronic toxicity of copper to five benthic invertebrates in laboratory-formulated sediment: Sensitivity comparison and preliminary risk assessment. Science of the Total Environment. 387: 128-140.
- Schroeder JE, Borgmann U, Dixon DG. 2010. Evaluation of the biotic ligand model to predict long-term toxicity of nickel to *Hyalella azteca*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 29: 2498-2504.
- Schwartz ML, Vigneault B. 2007. Development and validation of a chronic copper biotic ligand model for *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Aquatic Toxicology. 84: 247-254.
- Schwartz ML, Curtis PJ, Playle RC. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on acute copper, lead, and cadmium toxicity to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 2889-2899.
- Shuhaimi-Othman M, Pascoe D. 2001. Growth, development and reproduction of *Hyalella azteca* (Saussure, 1858) in laboratory culture. *Crustaceana*. 74:171-181.
- Stedmon CA, Markager S, Bro R. 2003. Tracing dissolved organic matter in aquatic environments using a new approach to fluorescence spectroscopy. Marine Chemistry. 82: 239-254.
- Thurman EM. 1985. Geochemistry of Natural Waters. Martinus Nijhof/Dr. W. Junk Publishers. Dordrecht, Boston, USA.

- Watson G. 1992. Factors affecting the distribution of the freshwater amphipod (*Hyalella Azteca*) in Sudbury area lakes. B. Sc. Thesis, Laurentian University, Sudbury, Ontario, Canada.
- Welsh P. 1996. Influence of dissolved organic carbon on the speciation, bioavailability and toxicity of metals to aquatic biota in soft water lakes. Waterloo, Ontario, Canada: University of Waterloo.
- Yan ND, Welsh PG, Lin H, Taylor DJ, Filion JM. 1996. Demographic and genetic evidence of the long-term recovery of *Daphnia galeata mendotae* (Crustacea: Daphnidae) in Sudbury lakes following additions of base: the role of metal toxicity. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 53: 1328-1344.

CHAPTER 4 General Discussion

4.1 Major Findings

The goal of this study was to compare the toxicity mitigating potential of different DOMs impacted by landscape disturbance (e.g. fire, logging, smelting) and how different sources can vary in protecting against acute and chronic Cu toxicity to *Hyalella azteca*. A suite of biological (acute and chronic toxicity testing), chemical (ion selective electrode), and optical (SAC₃₄₀, EEMS, FI) characterizations were used to explain differences in DOM quality. The optical and biological data were incorporated into the biotic ligand model (BLM) to improve acute and chronic Cu toxicity predictions by accounting for DOM quality. The major findings of this research are as follows:

- 1. Acute toxicity mitigation varies with DOM source. DOM protective quality is impacted by both the type and severity of disturbance with disturbed sites offering less protection than undisturbed references sites (Chapter 2; see *Acute Toxicity Tests*).
- Differences in acute toxicity are supported by ion selective electrode and 6h bioaccumulation exposures (Chapter 2; see ISE Characterization of DOM & Short Term (6h) Accumulation).
- Optical characterizations are valuable for explaining DOM source quality differences (Chapter 2; see *Correlations Among Biological, Optical, and Chemical Measures*).
 Specifically, SAC₃₄₀ appears to be the best indicator of DOM protective quality.
- 4. Incorporating optical characteristics (e.g. %HA from PARAFAC and SAC₃₄₀ as part of the Quality Factor) allowed us to improve both acute and chronic Cu toxicity predictions

that took into account DOM source variability and ecosystem disturbance (Chapter 2; see *Modelling*).

- 5. Chronic Cu toxicity varies depending on DOM source and there is somewhat of a link between ecosystem disturbance and toxicity mitigation (Chapter 3; see *Chronic Toxicity*).
- 6. Chronic toxicity is associated with the dry weight of organisms at Day 28 (Chapter 3; see *Chronic Growth Effects*). However, toxicity is not related to Cu bioaccumulation in surviving organisms at Day 28 because regulation appears to occur when *Hyalella* are exposed to Cu in long term studies (Chapter 3; see *Chronic Accumulation*).
- 7. Chronic toxicity is not explained by most optical and chemical characterizations (Chapter 2; see *Optical Characterizations of DOM* and *ISE Characterization of DOM*). However, similar to the acute toxicity results, the chronic (Day 28) LC50 was significantly correlated to SAC₃₄₀. In addition to being a rapid and simple measurement to complete, SAC₃₄₀ (i.e. how dark a DOM is) is the best indicator of how protective a DOM source will be against Cu toxicity.

4.2 General Discussion

When comparing acute and chronic studies, there was good agreement between the protective qualities of DOM sources, with similar patterns associated with ecosystem disturbance (Fig. 2.1, 3.1). Although in both acute and chronic studies, Cu toxicity was significantly reduced when DOM was present, the WR3 (logging site) was found to be much more protective in long-term exposures compared to acute tests. In the acute toxicity studies (Fig. 2.1), WR3 DOM provided only an intermediate level of protection against toxicity, whereas in chronic studies

(Fig. 3.1) WR3 DOM offered a protective effect that was comparable to WR1 (undisturbed reference site). This difference may be a result of WR3 DOM having high affinity binding sites that have a low capacity (Table 2.4), thus the DOM provides more protection when lower (chronic) concentrations of Cu compared to higher (acute) exposures. The optical and chemical characteristics of the DOMs did not explain chronic effects as well as the effects seen at the acute level. It is possible that there was not an overlap between the "analytical window" and the "toxicological window" at the lower concentrations tested in chronic exposures, whereas there was overlap seen in the acute toxicity tests (Al-Reasi et al., 2011). However, similar to our acute toxicity results, SAC₃₄₀ was found to be significantly correlated with chronic toxicity. The effectiveness of SAC₃₄₀ as an indicator of DOM quality has been observed in numerous acute studies with both invertebrates and fish species (Richards et al., 2001; Schwartz et al., 2004; De Schamphelaere et al., 2004; Al-Reasi et al., 2012), but at this point in time, there are no studies within the literature that have found a potential indicator of DOM quality with regards to chronic Cu toxicity. Because measuring and calculating the SAC₃₄₀ is such a rapid and uncomplicated technique that most laboratories have access to, it should be considered to be one of the most valuable indicators of DOM quality in terms of both acute and chronic Cu toxicity mitigation. Additionally, incorporating SAC_{340} values (as seen in the study by Schwartz et al (2004)) into the BLM allows for improved toxicity predictions (both acute and chronic) that take into account DOM source variability and ecosystem disturbance (Fig. 2.5, Fig. 3.4)

Whole body Cu bioaccumulation patterns differed between acute and chronic studies. In the acute studies, Cu accumulation decreased when DOM was present (Fig. 2.2) and the protective effect was dependent on DOM source. However, in the chronic exposures, DOM did not reduce Cu bioaccumulation and there was no influence of DOM source variability (Table 3.2). Short term Cu accumulation was related to acute toxicity which supports the theory of the BLM, allowing us to generate acute toxicity predictions using this model (Fig. 2.5). On the other hand, chronic Cu accumulation was not related to chronic toxicity. Based on studies done by Borgmann et al (1993) and Borgmann and Norwood (1995), it was expected that *Hyalella* would regulate Cu during chronic exposure, and that was observed in our study (Table 3.2). Since Cu is regulated when *Hyalella* are chronically exposed, bioaccumulation is not considered to be an effective indicator of toxicity for long-term studies, whereas short term bioaccumulation offers a good indication of acute toxicity (Borgmann, 1998).

Ultimately, this research is contributing to the existing knowledge regarding the role of DOM source quality in the mitigation of metal toxicity. However, there are future research needs in this field to better understand the role that ecosystem disturbance and recovery has in DOM quality. The influence of seasonality needs to be studied more in-depth to determine how and why differences in DOM quality exist in relation to Cu toxicity mitigation. Collecting organic matter from a single sampling site at least once per month between April and November would provide a profile of the DOM that would give insight to if/how seasonality influences DOM quality in terms of toxicity mitigation, as well as optical characteristics. To gain an improved understanding of the link between ecosystem disturbance and DOM quality, an indepth characterization of the terrestrial landscape features must be completed and studied in conjunction with the DOM quality parameters (biological, optical, and chemical) that were discussed throughout this document. Understanding the linkages between terrestrial and aquatic systems is the goal of the TALER (Terrestrial-Aquatic Linkages for Ecosystem Recovery) project that this research has been a part of. Characterizing these linkages will allow for this research and that of the TALER project to be incorporated into ecosystem remediation efforts

and land usage plans/strategies for regulatory agencies attempting to understand and improve ecosystems that have been impacted by long-term disturbance.

4.3 References

- Al-Reasi HA, Smith DS, Wood CM. 2012. Evaluating the ameliorative effect of natural dissolved organic matter (DOM) quality on copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*: improving the BLM. Ecotoxicology. 21: 524-537.
- Al-Reasi HA, Wood CM, Smith DS. 2011. Physiochemical and spectroscopic properties of natural organic matter (NOM) from various sources and implications for effects on metal toxicity to aquatic biota. Aquatic Toxicology. 103: 179-190.
- Borgmann U. 1998. A mechanistic model of copper accumulation in *Hyalella azteca*. Science of the Total Environment. 219: 137-145.
- Borgmann U, Norwood WP. 1995. Kinetics of excess (above background) copper and zinc in *Hyalella azteca* and their relationship to chronic toxicity. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 52: 864-874.
- Borgmann U, Norwood WP, Clarke C. 1993. Accumulation, regulation, and toxicity of copper, zinc, lead, and mercury in *Hyalella azteca*. Hydrobiologia. 259: 79-89.
- De Schamphelaere KAC, Vasconcelos FM, Tack FMG, Allen HE, Janssen CR. 2004. Effect of dissolved organic matter source on acute copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 2348-1255.
- Richards JG, Curtis JP, Burnison KB, Playle RC. 2001. Effects of natural organic matter source on reducing metal toxicity to rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) and on metal binding to their gills. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20: 1159-1166.

Schwartz ML, Curtis PJ, Playle RC. 2004. Influence of natural organic matter source on acute copper, lead, and cadmium toxicity to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).
Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 23: 2889-2899.